Occupational Stress and Coping Mechanisms among Student Audiologists:

A mixed-method study

by Sajin Joseph

Primary supervisor: Dr. Rebecca Kelly-Campbell (Ziva Shai)

Associate supervisor: Dr. Katharina Naswall

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the

Master of Audiology degree requirements

University of Canterbury

Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha

Acknowledgements

"E hara taku toa i te toa takitahi, he toa takitini" "My strength is not as an individual, but as a collective" (Alsop & Kupenga, 2016)

I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge and offer my warmest gratitude to everyone who has supported me in this journey to complete my master's thesis. First, I would like to express my most profound appreciation to my parents for their unconditional love and support. My mother's vision for me has brought me here today, and I will always be indebted to her.

I would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. Rebecca Kelly-Campbell (Ziva Shai) and Dr. Katharina Naswall, for their continued guidance and insight that have guided me in writing my thesis. A special thanks to you, Ziva Shai for providing me with this wonderful opportunity and for having faith in me. Your mentorship is something I value and will cherish throughout my professional life.

Lastly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my wife, Desma Dsouza, for being the most significant source of my strength and genuinely encouraging me throughout this course. I owe much of the completion of my thesis to you!!

Abstract

Aims: This study aims to identify occupational stressors, their impact and coping mechanisms adopted by student audiologists.

Method: Thirty-five student audiologists enrolled in an Audiology program across twelve locations, including Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, India, Ireland, Israel, Malaysia, New Zealand, Singapore, South Africa, the United Kingdom and the United States of America were recruited for this study.

Results: Thematic analysis of open-ended responses showed clinic-related stressors such as time, management, clinical procedures and equipment as the primary sources of stress. Most student audiologists reported the negative effects of stress with health, behavioural and work-life balance aspects to be adversely affected. Social interactions and physical activities were identified as the most common coping mechanisms used to overcome stress.

Conclusion: Student audiologists are affected by occupational stress and adopt several coping mechanisms to manage stressors.

Abbreviations

- Audiology Occupational Stress Questionnaire (AOSQ)
- Compassion Fatigue (CF)
- Compassion Satisfaction (CS)
- Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC)
- Evidence-based practice (EBP)
- General Adaption Syndrome (GAS)
- Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
- Professional Quality of Life (ProQOL)
- Secondary Traumatic Stress (STS)
- World Health Organisation (WHO)

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Abstract	2
Abbreviations	3
Table of Contents	4
List of figures	5
Introduction	.6
Literature Review	8
Stress	8
Source of stress1	1
Occupational stress in healthcare professions14	4
Stress among healthcare students1	.6
Impact of stress2	3
Coping mechanisms2	4
Research aim and questions2	7
Methodology2	8
Participants2	8
Research design2	8
Procedure2	9
Data Analysis3	1
Results	4
Discussion4	3
Limitations5	1
Future research5	1
Conclusion5	2
References5	3

List of Figures

- Figure 1: Internal and external stressors reported by student audiologists
- Figure 2: Clinical-related stressors reported by student audiologists
- Figure 3: Self-related stressors reported by student audiologists
- Figure 4: Client-related stressors reported by student audiologists
- Figure 5: The overall effects of stress reported by student audiologists
- Figure 6: The adverse effects of stress reported by student audiologists
- Figure 7: Health, work-life and behavioural effects of stress reported by student audiologists
- Figure 8: Coping mechanisms reported by student audiologists

Introduction

The word 'stress' originates from two Latin words, 'strictus' and 'stringere', which translate to 'narrow' and 'tighten' respectively and represents an individual's constricted and restrained psychosomatic experience when challenged with excess demands (Jin, 2012). A stress response is an unavoidable consequence of modern lifestyle, with modern-day stressors more likely to be of psychological origin that prevail for a longer duration, unlike stressors experienced in the past that were more physical in nature (Bartlett, 1998).

Occupational Stress is a condition experienced by an individual when unable to fulfil the demands of the workplace (Mustafa et al., 2015; Quick & Henderson, 2016; Sauter et al., 1992). A study with Swedish audiologists reported work demands such as assigning tasks beyond an employee's capability or setting unreasonable deadlines to cause occupational stress (Brännström et al., 2016).

Students and professionals in the healthcare industry have been known to experience occupational stress. While there has been considerable attention and research on occupational stress and coping mechanisms in primary medical fields among professionals and students, there have been limited studies on the impact of occupational stress on audiologists. Recent studies have found that professional audiologists suffer from the negative consequences of occupational stress (Brännström et al., 2013; Ravi et al., 2015; Severn et al., 2012). No studies to date have investigated the type of stressors, their impact on student audiologists, and the coping mechanisms used to manage or overcome these stressors. Previous studies measuring occupational stressors among audiologists from Sweden (Brännström et al., 2016), India (Ravi et al., 2016) and New Zealand (Severn et al., 2012) were primarily focused on quantitative findings with limited qualitative data reported. The Audiology profession has no published guidelines to identify student audiologists who may be at risk of burnout or depression (Mundy, 2006) and are presumed to experience stressors similar to other health professional students. This study aims to address these research questions.

Literature Review

Stress

Bartlett (1998) defines stress as the psychological and physiological response of the body to the daily needs of life. The human nervous system is made up of numerous networks of communicating neurons and non-neuron cells, enabling various parts of the brain to interact and work in tandem to regulate body functions, thoughts, emotions, behaviour, and other activities (Gibbons, 2019). According to Schneiderman et al. (2005), stress is a physiological reaction to physical or emotional needs that causes a compensatory bodily response to equalize homeostatic imbalance due to external forces (Goldstein & Kopin, 2007).

The definition of stress has been refined significantly over the years, attributed to numerous past studies on the topic. Claude Bernard coined the term 'milieu Interieur', which translates to the internal environment and its association with homeostasis (Bernard, 1878). Homeostasis is the ability of an organism to maintain internal equilibrium while adjusting to changes in its external environment (Cooper, 2008). It is an organizing principle that supports steady internal, physical, and chemical conditions. The internal environment is constantly adjusted within limits to maintain a dynamic equilibrium resulting from a change in an organism's environment (Bernard, 1957). The structural composition of the human body (Pruessner et al., 2010) plays a vital role in maintaining homeostasis (Chovatiya & Medzhitov, 2014) and managing stress. Stress is the outcome of intense forces that challenge homeostasis or be perceived to do so (Kültz, 2020).

Hungarian endocrinologist Hans (Selye, 1956) proposed stress as a non-specific body response to any demand. The body undergoes the three physiological phases of *alarm*, *resistance*, and *exhaustion* (Cunanan et al., 2018) as it responds to stress, also referred to as General Adaption Syndrome (GAS).

During the *alarm* stage, the body experiences the initial stress reaction. The stressors cause physical or emotional imbalance (Johnson et al., 1992; Pruessner et al., 2010). As a result, the body initiates an adaptive process and evokes bodily changes such as body temperature, blood pressure, fluids, and sugar level to re-establish the homeostatic balance and protects the organism from acute stress (Chrousos, 2009; Chrousos et al., 2013). Physiological symptoms, including dilated pupils, increased heart rate, fast breathing, tremors, pale skin, and increased sensitivity to senses, including sight, sound, touch, and smell, are commonly seen during the alarm reaction stage.

During the *resistance* phase, the body makes efforts to return to the prestress state and endeavours to repair itself after its initial stress experience. Often, the body recovers quickly from acute anxiety or may encounter difficulties with prolonged stress, affecting the body's ability to return to normal functioning levels (Cunanan et al., 2018). The involuntary physiological reactions act as a protective measure guarding one against any potential hazards. However, over-activation of stress response and bodily changes may significantly affect one's mental and physical well-being.

The prevalence of prolonged and chronic stress may manifest in the *exhaustion* stage. The body depletes all its physical, emotional, and mental resources but cannot cope with stress (Cunanan

et al., 2018). Individuals with chronic stress experience symptoms of fatigue, burnout and reduced stress tolerance. Additionally, excessive stress lowers the immune system and increases the risk of tissue damage, high blood pressure, diabetes, heart disease and mental disorders (Chrousos, 2009; Kasl, 1984).

Lazarus and Folkman (1984) described the transactional model of stress and coping, describing stress as a psychological consequence of the interaction between an individual and his environment, enabling one to judge the situation as taxing or exceeding based on the ability to cope with the situation. The stress experience relies on interpreting an event and the consequence of a thinking process referred to as appraisal and differs drastically across individuals (Walinga, 2014). The cognitive appraisal includes a primary and secondary assessment (Campbell et al., 2013). Primary appraisal is the initial evaluation of a situation to establish if it is likely to threaten one's well-being.

Situations are classified as irrelevant (neutral), challenging (positive) or threatening (negative) based on the initial assessment. Situations that are likely to cause harm or loss are identified as threatening, while events likely to generate growth or gain are challenging (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Positive or neutral situations are not perceived as stressful and do not pose any threat. Situations that threaten one's well-being are deemed harmful and go through a second appraisal to evaluate one's ability to cope with a specific situation (Campbell et al., 2013).

The interaction between the primary and secondary appraisals defines the emotional reaction to an event(s) as harm-loss, threat or challenge appraisal. A harm-loss assessment refers to an event when a loss has occurred due to the situation, and the required resources to effectively

manage the stress are unavailable. A threat state is when a situation is likely to cause harm or loss in the future, and one does not have sufficient resources to cope successfully. Conversely, a challenge appraisal occurs when the situation is demanding but one is equipped with adequate resources to meet or exceed the task demands. A harm-loss and threat appraisals are stressful, while challenge appraisals do not impose any threat (Campbell et al., 2013).

Sources of stress

Stressors are broadly grouped into two sources- internal and external. Internal stressors are the most common source of stress that originates within, such as stress-inducing thoughts or behaviours. Examples of internal stressors include uncertainty, lack of control, fear of failing and setting unrealistic expectations. *External* stressors originate from the environment and are often difficult to control, including life events such as relationship difficulties, job loss, financial struggle or significant life events such as the death of a loved one or divorce (Riordan & Saltzer, 1992). Furthermore, external forces such as political, economic, social, and technological changes may impose additional challenges that negatively affect a work setting (Franco et al., 2002). For example, health reforms designed to reduce healthcare costs by downsizing staff have led to excessive workload, reduced patient care and higher employee turnover (Murphy & Murphy, 1996) with high stress and anxiety seen in healthcare professionals. Irrational decisions and poor leadership led to chronic stress and burnout amongst frontline staff resulting from excessive workload, staff shortage, inadequate medical knowledge of testing, short supply of medicines and protection kits, and being unable to support safe physical distancing (Jafree et al., 2021).

Stress is a ubiquitous experience (Zawadzki et al., 2022). An optimal level of stress is constructive as it generates physiological arousal levels to perform better in accomplishing everyday tasks (Weinstein & Ryan, 2011). Ideal stress levels create euphoria, increase motivation and mental concentration, and generate energy and keenness, while too little stress may lead to boredom and inefficiency. Excessive pressure may cause burnout, manifest compassion fatigue, and negatively affect overall well-being (Craig & Sprang, 2010; Robins et al., 2015) and present with physical, emotional, and behavioural symptoms (Bartlett, 1998; Buell & Eliot, 1979).

Occupational Stress

Ravi et al. (2015) define occupational stress as an outcome of the nature of work and its environment, which produces psychological and physiological effects on an individual. The World Health Organisation (WHO) describes occupational stress as a response demonstrated by a worker when presented with work demands that do not match their competencies and challenge the worker's ability to cope (Leka et al., 2003; Rao & Chandraiah, 2012). Occupational stress may negatively impact one's job performance and overall well-being and affect others (Brännström et al., 2013). It may affect healthcare professionals who provide care and support to patients experiencing various problems (Finn & Tomz, 1997). A greater risk of burnout and reduced compassion satisfaction is strongly associated with excessive and prolonged occupational stress.

Compassion Satisfaction (CS) is the positive feeling encountered by individuals when able to perform the job well (De La Rosa et al., 2018). Conversely, **Compassion Fatigue (CF)** is the

outcome of being exposed to clients experiencing trauma or distress that may negatively impact the clinician's mental and physical health, safety, and overall well-being. Healthcare professionals providing care and support to traumatised patients may experience negative physical, psychological, and emotional consequences and may experience a sense of fear and avoidance (Stamm, 2005). Occupational stress can adversely affect workers, reducing compassion, which subsequently minimises job satisfaction, creating a pessimistic feeling towards the job and colleagues (Stamm, 2010). Healthcare professionals commonly report emotional exhaustion due to prolonged stress from stressors. (Leiter & Maslach, 2016). Several studies report a decline in patient care quality due to excessive occupational stress encountered by healthcare professionals (Bruce et al., 2005; Campbell et al., 2001; S. Marriage & K. Marriage, 2005). The **Professional Quality of Life** (ProQOL) Stamm (2010) is a selfadministered questionnaire that evaluates the positive (CS) and the negative aspects (CF) of healthcare professionals.

Compassion fatigue further incorporates two elements: **Secondary Traumatic Stress (STS)** and **Burnout**. STS is the emotional duress resulting from exposure to work-related primary or secondary trauma. It is a traumatic response often resulting from being constantly subjected to distressing details of an event experienced by another person (De La Rosa et al., 2018). Burnout is the outcome of prolonged work-related distress causing feelings of exhaustion, lack of productivity, hopelessness, or dissatisfaction with job performance (Byrne, 1993; Maslach, 1998; Stamm, 2010). Burnout has three dimensions- the feeling of energy exhaustion, feelings of cynicism and mental detachment from one's job, and a sense of decreased professional effectiveness (Maslach, 1998; Stamm, 2010). Burnout is the outcome of poorly managed

chronic work-related distress, while secondary traumatic stress is the detrimental effect of helping others (Stamm, 2010). Burnout, CS and CF are critical indicators of occupational stress (Severn et al., 2012).

Occupational stress in healthcare professions

Healthcare professions such as medicine, nursing, and other allied disciplines are highly demanding, as workers engage in continuous strong and intense personal-emotional contact with emotionally vulnerable patients (Leiter & Maslach, 2016). The prevailing norms of the primary medical industry set standards for healthcare professionals to be selfless, compassionate, and willing to work long hours (Swanwick, 2018). This has been found to generate significant work-related stress (Ferrans, 1990), with excessive stress leading to adverse ill-health (Mohren et al., 2003; Ursin & Eriksen, 2004). Healthcare workers are exposed to physical, emotional, and psychological distress and are more susceptible to burnout and depression (Martin et al., 1997; Parola et al., 2017).

Occupational stress among audiologists

Numerous studies on occupational stress and professional quality of life have been done with several healthcare professionals. However, only a few studies have been conducted in the field of Audiology in New Zealand (Severn et al., 2012), India (Manchaiah et al., 2015; Ravi et al., 2015), Sweden (Brännström et al., 2016), America (Emanuel, 2021; Zimmer et al., 2022) and Australia (Simpson et al., 2021). The Audiology Occupational Stress Questionnaire (AOSQ) was used as a measure of stress in some of these studies, including New Zealand (Severn et al., 2012), India (Ravi et al., 2015), and Sweden (Brännström et al., 2016). Severn et al. (2012), investigating occupational stress amongst New Zealand Audiologists, reported six stressors, namely, time demand, audiological management, patient contact, clinical guidelines, patient accountability and administration. However, the study did not include stressors and coping mechanisms among student audiologists. The stressors reported were found to be different to other studies. Seven stressors, including time spent at work, accountability, workplace leadership, paper workload, equipment and clinical protocols, health concerns and job controls, were identified in the Swedish study (Brännström et al., 2016). Zimmer et al. (2022) reported low levels of burnout and compassion fatigue, along with increased compassion satisfaction among American audiologists. These findings were different to the Severn et al. (2012) study, which reported 'time pressure' as a significant predictor of burnout along with low-level compassion satisfaction. 'Patient contact' was found to be a strong indicator of compassion fatigue among New Zealand audiologists. Additionally, the increased stress level was reported by younger audiologists working in public settings as compared to experienced or private working audiologists. Conversely, no significant relationship between gender, location, years of experience or work environment and stress was found in the American study (Zimmer et al., 2022). The study by Brännström et al. (2016) reported similar stress levels across public and private audiologists, with the years of experience having no impact on the level of stress.

Stress among healthcare students

Based on the earlier assumption that students were only expected to study and that studying was not recognised as stressful, it was presumed that students were least affected by stress (Reddy et al., 2018). However, the reality has been far different and alarming. Several studies on mental health have reported a warning proportion of university students to suffer from depression, anxiety, and suicidal tendency globally (Batra et al., 2021; Kassir et al., 2021; Kohls et al., 2021; Steinmetz et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2020; Wathelet et al., 2020). Fuse-Nagase et al. (2021) investigating the mental health symptoms among undergraduate students across 82 universities reported a suicide rate of 17.6 in total (per 100,000) during 2020-21. These alarming suicidal rates of 21.8 for men and 11.3 for women recorded were the highest suicidal death rates seen in the last eight and six years respectively. Stress in students is seen to have multiple effects and could negatively affect academic performance, cognitive functioning, and learning (Pascoe et al., 2020).

Birks et al. (2009) reported that university students experience many stressors, such as academic demands, adjusting to an unfamiliar environment and new people, and being able to manage financially, emotionally, and socially independently. Additionally, healthcare students experience other potential stressors relating to providing support and care to distressed patients, often over a prolonged period and the need for continuous learning of applied clinical skills. Other aspects, such as the rapid growth seen in the healthcare sector in recent years, advancements in technology, new knowledge and content, increasing demand for healthcare services, and increased responsibilities borne by healthcare workers have contributed to the rising stress levels seen in healthcare students (Higgs et al., 1999).

Students pursuing healthcare courses experienced a higher prevalence of stress and depression (Adlaf et al., 2001; Dahlin et al., 2005; Dyrbye et al., 2005; Jones & Johnston, 1997; Monk, 2004; Pau & Croucher, 2003; S. L. Shapiro et al., 2000) than the general population (Deary et al., 2003; Ibrahim et al., 2013). Studies with healthcare students revealed a significant positive correlation between stress and burnout (Morgantini et al., 2020). Students showed burnout-related symptoms of cynicism, loss of empathy and detachment (Kachel et al., 2020). Westman and Eden (1996) reported a U-shaped curve representing a non-linear relationship between stress and performance. Low-stress levels correlate to a low level of performance, and a rise in pressure to an optimal level creates a surge in performance. However, a further increase in stress results in a negative relationship between performance and stress, with increased pressure beyond the optimal level associated with a reduction in performance (Tamar Jacob et al., 2013; Sarid et al., 2004; Seaward, 2021). Healthcare students experience numerous sources of stress, including academic (performance and grades), clinical (productivity demands, complex cases) and personal (work-life balance, financial).

Academic Stressors

Healthcare schools provide theoretical and practical scientific education to future healthcare professionals enabling them to deliver high-quality patient-centred care (Aththiligoda et al.; Snell et al., 2000). Academic burnout is the outcome of excessive and prolonged academic pressure causing adverse emotional, psychological, and physical effects on a student (Ezeudu et al., 2020). The condition may manifest itself with multiple symptoms, such as cynicism, emotional exhaustion, and incompetence (Hwang & Kim, 2022; Oloidi et al., 2022). The feeling of being depleted and drained due to academic demands is referred to as emotional

exhaustion. At the same time, cynicism is the sense of disconnection as students distance themselves from their studies, impacting student learning outcomes (Schaufeli et al., 2002). Incompetence refers to a decreased sense of self-efficacy, with students constantly feeling unskilled and low in confidence (Bitran et al., 2019). Other severe consequences include disengagement symptoms such as low motivation, diminishing academic performance, and eventually leaving school before course completion (Jagodics & Szabó, 2022). While increased stress levels and decreasing patient empathy are intertwined (Voltmer et al., 2021), academic stress has been found to be a significant indicator of poor mental health among medical students (Voltmer et al., 2021; Voltmer et al., 2012). Dyrbye et al. (2008), examining stress among students in medical schools, reported that 47% of students experienced depressive symptoms, 50% with burnout and 25% with suicidal ideations.

A study investigating stressors across programs and years of study among Physical Therapy, Communication Disorders and Nutrition Science students reported academic demands to be the primary source of stress (T. Jacob et al., 2013). Increased stress and anxiety experienced by nursing students have been attributed to excessive workload, rigid curriculum, intense competitive settings and nursing license examination preparation (Lee & Lim, 2017). Similarly, Ruzhenkova et al. (2018) reported anxiety, burnout, distress and depression among medical students due to the intense academic workload and pressures of school and residency, with senior students being better able to cope better than students in their initial years of study (S. L. Shapiro et al., 2000; Vitaliano et al., 1989). The prevalence of stress was reported to be highest during the first three years of the study, progressively reducing over the later years of the course (Inam, 2007; Rosiek et al., 2016; S. L. Shapiro et al., 2000).

The reduction in the stress level assumed that students became accustomed to academic pressure over time (Tucker et al., 2006). Medical students reported a higher prevalence of depression (12.9%), with a greater incidence among women than men (Dahlin et al., 2005). The overall anxiety level across both men and women medical students was the same during the first year of study (Shah & Ahmed, 2013). However, there is a degree of inconsistency, with few studies suggesting women are more likely to develop stress than men in the initial years of study (Abdulghani et al., 2011; Saeed et al., 2016).

Clinical Stressors

Healthcare professions such as nursing (González-García et al., 2021; McKenna & Plummer, 2013), medicine (Alsiö et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2014), speech pathology (Lincoln et al., 2004), audiology and other allied health disciplines (Esteghamati et al., 2016) have a clinical component attached to their professional training program. Healthcare students are required to complete certain clinical hours as part of their curriculum, as it offers a set of professional and clinical competencies and academic credits (Alsiö et al., 2019; Ataş & Talo Yildirim, 2020; Esteghamati et al., 2016; Michel, 2018).

Clinical training is integral to healthcare learning, with evidence suggesting clinical supervision is imperative for professional performance (Lyth, 2000; Todd & Freshwater, 1999). Workplacebased knowledge allows the application of relevant theory to evidence-based clinical practice, facilitates student-client engagement and develops attitudes and behaviours essential for the provision of high-quality patient care (Chapman & Orb, 2001; Littlewood et al., 2005). Hence, the quality of the clinical environment and the competency of clinical supervisors play a critical

role in enhancing clinical practice (González-García et al., 2021). A student failing clinical placement may feel professionally ineffective (Tully, 2004) and may reconsider other career options (Beck, 1993). Clinical education experience can be particularly stressful for students with no previous clinical exposure (Admi, 1997; Mahat, 1998). Scully (2011) reported increased stress and anxiety among novice nursing students as students struggled to consolidate best practice theory learnt in the classroom into real-life clinical settings.

Additionally, a student's attitude, behaviour, and performance are influenced by their supervisor's perspective (Yee, 1969). A study examining nursing staff turnover reported that nurses with a supportive supervisor were less likely to quit their profession (Halter et al., 2017) and was proposed as a solution to resolve the ever-increasing attrition rate of nurses (Buchan & Dovlo, 2004). Adequate supervision includes providing constructive and regular feedback to students, allowing time for students to reflect on their practice and utilising a style of leadership that will improve a student's performance, skills, and competencies (Clynes & Raftery, 2008; Gray & Smith, 2000; Ladany et al., 2013). Conversely, an authoritative supervision style may lead to stress and anxiety, creating a sense of self-doubt, and loss of motivation, reducing creativity and initiative, subsequently deterring students' growth and performance (Ladany et al., 2013; Saras, 1994).

Evidence-based practice (EBP) guides healthcare professionals to make informed clinical decisions supporting safe, high-quality, effective, and efficient health services. The theory-practical gap is the disconnection between theory and clinical practice (Greenway et al., 2019; Rolfe, 1996). A theory-practice gap is a common source of stress reported in previous studies in the field of medicine (Beane et al., 2017), nursing (Hanberg & Brown, 2006; Shoghi et al., 2019),

dental (August et al., 2018; Chutinan et al., 2021), occupational therapy (Steward, 1996), speech and language therapy (Greenwell & Walsh, 2021; ZipoliJr & Kennedy, 2005) and other allied health disciplines. Calleja et al. (2016) suggested that the inability of students to engage with constructive feedback and adapt self-correction behaviour resulted in a theory-practical gap.

Clinical placements across different healthcare providers, learning new technology, maintaining professional relationships with supervisors and patients, and dealing with traumatised patients with deteriorating medical conditions are additional sources of stress encountered during clinical training (McKenna & Plummer, 2013).

Financial Stressors

Economic hardship may negatively impact a student's experience of their education programme (Cuthbertson et al., 2004; Rhead, 1995). Many countries provide financial aid through student loans to support higher education (Johnstone & Marcucci, 2007; Mitchell, 2020; Shen & Ziderman, 2009). For example, the NZ student loans scheme was introduced in 1992 to reduce the barrier to participation due to tuition fees and to pursue higher education, allowing students to repay the amount upon course completion (Sorensen & Winn, 1993). An increasing number of students are undertaking paid part-time employment due to varied factors such as poverty, insufficient parent contribution, low income, debt, rise in tuition fees and cost of living (Curtis & Shani, 2002; Ford et al., 1995; Webster et al., 2017; Woodhall, 1987). Several studies have reported financial stress as an indicator of students' well-being (Bernice Andrews & John M Wilding, 2004; Roberts et al., 1999). A change in the United Kingdom

education policy to replace student grants with student loans has laid significant financial stress on students (Belfield et al., 2017), and a comparative study between the years 2015-16 and 2005-06 reported an increase in student suicide death by 79% and mental health problems by five times (Thorley, 2017).

Rochford et al. (2009), examining financial problems among undergraduate nursing students, reported the number of hours worked weekly as a predictor of a student's grades, course performance and experience. Economic challenges and depression (B. Andrews & J. M. Wilding, 2004; Carney et al., 2005), along with full-time study with part-time employment, have been found to adversely affect students' academic performance (Blaga, 2012; Kosi et al., 2013).

COVID-19

The coronavirus outbreak enforced additional challenges on healthcare students and professionals (Lee et al., 2021). The healthcare workforce suffered from stress, anxiety, distress and burnout following the outbreak of COVID (Huckins et al., 2020; Kecojevic et al., 2020). Following the lockdown orders, healthcare schools remained closed, with clinical training cancelled, and students had to quickly adapt to the new online learning settings (Kecojevic et al., 2020; Kisely et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2021). Students had to leave on short notice due to concerns for the safety of their family and friends (Brown & Kafka, 2020). Many students with part-time income lost their jobs and encountered financial hardship (Begum et al., 2020). The pandemic impacted the professional practice of healthcare and limited healthcare services. The healthcare system battled with staff shortages and absenteeism due to illness or the need to care for a family member. In Denmark, final-year medical students were recruited as temporary

residents to mitigate staff shortages (Rasmussen et al., 2020). Healthcare professionals and trainees assigned tasks during COVID had to learn new ways to ensure safety and infection control, such as using a Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) kit and maintaining social distancing during clinical procedures (Gold, 2020; Kisely et al., 2020).

Impact of stress

Stress and burnout can impact professional and personal lives. Excessive stress can result in poor academic performance (Mladen et al., 2019), lack of professionalism (Dyrbye et al., 2010; Gallegos et al., 1990), low-quality patient care (Williams et al., 2007) and physical and emotional problems (Mladen et al., 2019).

Chronic stress may manifest in the form of attitude problems such as feelings of isolation, distrust and cynicism. Cynicism is commonly seen in healthcare students (Testerman et al., 1996) and may result in burnout, derogatory and cynical humour, and a drastic decline in empathy towards patients (Kopelman, 1983). The pathophysiologic due to excessive and prolonged stress may lead to behavioural symptoms of anger, nervousness or irritability (Li et al., 2008). Other symptoms include binge-eating habits (Medisauskaite & Kamau, 2019), absenteeism (Deary et al., 2003; Hughes, 2002) and usage of psychoactive substances such as smoking, alcohol, and drugs to cope with stress. Among medical students, substance usage was highest during the first three years of study (Inam, 2007; Johnson et al., 1990). Chronic stress may result in students dropping out. The dropout rates of students pursuing healthcare courses, including nursing, medicine, occupation therapy, speech and language, and audiology, are higher than the general population (Watson et al., 2008).

Coping Mechanisms

Coping refers to the cognitive, emotional and behavioural responses mobilized to mitigate a stressful situation (Alqarni & Alasmee, 2020; Mivšek et al., 2018; Seyedfatemi et al., 2007). Coping and cognitive appraisals are significantly related. They rely on what is at stake and the options available for managing the situation (Folkman et al., 1986).

According to Folkman and Lazarus (1988), coping strategies can be broadly classified into problem-focused and emotion-focused approaches. Problem-focused coping methods also referred to as adaptive or positive strategies, are designed to adapt or modify the situation when managing the demands of a stressful event, while emotion-focused coping strategies regulate feelings associated with stress and enable the individual to engage in activities to selfdistract. The type of coping strategies adopted is dependent on the response of the environment and the action taken. Problem-focused plans are likely to be implemented when the results of a stressful event are evaluated as being amendable to change, whereas emotionfocused forms of coping are applied when it is predicted to be unchangeable (Folkman & Lazarus, 1980).

Factors such as organisational climate and management processes can either reduce or increase burnout. Occupational stress and burnout are suggested to be reduced with management regulating employee empowerment and demonstrating leadership behaviour (Gill et al., 2010). Supervisory and social support plays a critical role in managing stress and anxiety and is inversely related to burnout (Surana et al., 2011). Several initiatives have been undertaken by healthcare schools to mitigate the increasing depression and burnout

encountered by their students. For example, a comprehensive wellness programme, WellMed, has been implemented by the Albert Einstein College of Medicine to address the increasing risk of depression. The programme has partnered with the Department of Psychiatry, which enables students to have direct access to advanced psychiatric services (Ludwig et al., 2015). Mindfulness-based stress reduction is an effective mindful training programme aimed at improving coping skills and minimising psychological distress (Rosenzweig et al., 2003). Other solutions, such as establishing multi-disciplinary teams to resolve student-specific clinical clerkship issues, responding timely to student feedback and providing well-guided progress throughout the course, are also being done to manage stress (Moffat et al., 2004).

While certain situations may create anxiety for some, the exact circumstances can be stimulating for others (Cincotta, 2005). The implementation of conscious strategies to reduce unpleasant situations' physical, psychological or social harm is coping (Carroll, 2013; Dewe, 1991). Coping styles are behavioural and cognitive efforts to overpower or minimize the effects of stressors. Active and Avoidance coping are two coping mechanisms.

Active coping is a vital component of resilience that enables one to indulge in an adaptive approach to reduce stress. Responses aim to change the nature of a stressful event to minimise harm or modify thinking and feeling about the event, thereby changing one's response. Factors such as the type of coping strategy used and the availability of support services are predictors of well-being (Galvin & Smith, 2015).

Active coping includes changing environments, planning activities, problem-solving, seeking information, searching for social support and professional guidance, and having a new outlook on issues when managing a stressful situation (Zeidner & Endler, 1995).

Avoidance coping is one of the emotional-focused coping mechanisms involving cognitive and behavioural attempts to deny, reduce or avoid a stressful situation and has been found to be associated with distress and depression (Holahan et al., 2005; Penley et al., 2002).

Rationale for the study

With no literature available on occupational stressors amongst student audiologists, this study aims to establish a holistic view of the topic by analysing and interpreting responses obtained from AOSQ open-ended questions and linking them to the AOSQ factor scores obtained from the closed-ended questions. The study aims to gain a better understanding of occupational stressors, their impact, and coping mechanisms for student audiologists.

Research Aim

Aim of the study

The study aims to identify underlying themes related to the nature of occupational stressors experienced by student audiologists, the impact of stressors on everyday living, and coping mechanisms frequently used to manage the stressors.

Research Questions

- 1. What are the different occupational stressors experienced by student audiologists?
- 2. How do the stressors affect student audiologists?
- 3. What are the different coping mechanisms adopted by student audiologists to relieve

stress?

Methodology

Participants

The participants for the study were recruited through word of mouth, advertisements through professional bodies and the study author's network of personal contacts. A total of 204 Audiologists (Female= 181 and Male= 23) were recruited across 12 locations, including Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, India, Ireland, Israel, Malaysia, New Zealand, Singapore, South Africa, the United Kingdom and the United States of America. Of the 204 participants, 35 were student audiologists enrolled in an Audiology program and are the population of interest for the current study.

Research Design

A mixed-method study reporting on the qualitative data aimed at identifying the underlying themes based on the open-ended responses obtained from the AOSQ (Severn et al., 2012). The population of interest is student audiologists. The study design can be described as a crosssectional survey-type research design. The study measures qualitative data to gather a holistic view of the topic.

Procedure

The advertisement for the study included a weblink that directed interested participants to the Qualtrics online survey. Interested participants recruited through the audiology newsletters, word of mouth and contact network were provided access to the structured questionnaire via the Qualtrics online survey portal through weblink Qualtrics portal collected the qualitative data for analysis. The quantitative data is stored in Microsoft Office Excel.

The survey questionnaire comprised demographic questions, the Audiology Occupational Stress Questionnaire (AOSQ), the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC), and the Compassion fatigue and Compassion satisfaction sub-scales of the Professional Quality of life (Pro-QOL).

Demographic variables of interest included age, country, gender, ethnicity, years of studying audiology, health conditions and if there was any impact on student's ability to pursue their studies, type of qualification (Bachelor, Master or Doctorate) and duration of the course (full or part-time)

AOSQ (Severn et al., 2012) is a two-part questionnaire comprising content and an open-ended section. The content section includes 37 closed-set questions from five themes: 1. Paperwork and administration, 2. Patient content and clinical time 3. Professional responsibility and health 4. Management of professional life at work 4. Management of social life outside work. A total of 36 content section questions are scored using a 7-point Likert scale system, ranging from *never stressful to extremely stressful*, respectively, while one question obtains ranking responses to stressors. The open-ended section comprises three open-ended questions aimed

at identifying the most significant stressors, their impact on the individual and the coping mechanisms used to relieve occupational stress.

Pro-QOL (Stamm, 2005) is a 30-item questionnaire that evaluates the professional quality of life experienced by healthcare workers. Pro-QOL responses are measured using a 5-point Likert scale: Never, Rarely, Sometimes, Often and Very Often. The Pro-QOL measures three elements: compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue and burnout. A score of 23 or greater is considered compassion satisfaction. Conversely, a score less than 23 is considered compassion fatigue. Burnout and secondary traumatic stress (STS) comprise compassion fatigue. A response score of 43 or lower has a minimal risk of burnout, while a score higher than 43 is associated with a greater chance of burnout when measuring the burnout element on the sub-scale.

CD-RISC 10 is a shortened version of CD-RISC (Connor & Davidson, 2003) and comprises ten statements that evaluate the psychological resilience of the respondents by indicating how well each statement relates to them. The level of resilience of being able to bounce back after a stressful event is scored using a 5-point Likert scale system, ranging from *Not at all true, Often true, Rarely true, Sometimes true, and True nearly all the time,* respectively. Scores for each statement indicated by the respondent are summed to obtain the overall resilience score, and a higher score indicates a higher level of resilience.

Data Analysis

The responses obtained from the three open-ended questions were coded and peer-reviewed to draw similarities or differences across data findings. The application of thematic analysis allowed a better understanding of the participants responses through themes. Six stages of thematic analysis by Braun and Clarke (2006) were used to identify essential themes from the responses. The stages included 1. Data familiarisation, 2. Generation of initial codes, 3. Searching for themes, 4. Reviewing themes, 5. Defining and naming themes, 6. Producing the report.

Data familiarizing was the first step of thematic analysis. Prolonged engagement with the data enabled the deriving of meaning, patterns and a deeper understanding of the content. Raw data was archived in a systematic manner and was stored in a central repository. This permitted an audit trail and a comparison with future data analyses and interpretations for appropriateness. The data was extrapolated into Microsoft Excel, with three spreadsheets created for stressors, effects of stress and the coping mechanisms within the same excel file, along with unique participant codes.

Generation of codes was the second stage. Sorting and organizing of data helped in identifying specific characteristics of the content. The coding of transcripts was carried out by highlighting excerpts related to the initial set of codes. Patterns emerged as discrete extracts of data were analysed, categorised and labelled to specific codes using colour indicators. Having more than one researcher to analyse each data set through peer debriefing in the coding process

improved the credibility of the study. Minutes of team meetings and changes to the analytic approach were well-documented to establish trustworthiness.

Searching for themes was the next step. Although previous studies on similar topics were helpful, the primary themes were inductively produced from the open-end responses. The inductive analysis generated rich descriptive content and minimised the risk of research bias. Thematic networks to project hierarchical codes and themes provided a better understanding of the text at varying levels of specificity. The conceptual framework was produced with two broad higher orders, i.e. internal and external stressors aligning to their corresponding lower order codes of self, client and clinical related stressors. No codes were eliminated at this stage, and codes that did not fit in the main themes were momentarily stored under the 'miscellaneous' theme.

Reviewing themes refers to the refining of coded data extracts into a set of themes that concisely describe the text. Multiple themes similar to each other were merged, while some themes were disintegrated into separate themes. Dissimilar themes or themes with poor supporting data were removed at this stage to outline a clear pattern.

Defining and naming themes was the next step. Themes were assigned clear names that immediately conveyed the story that the themes were telling. Upon the completion of the theme names, it was then presented for peer debriefing for completeness and clarity. This ensured the names precisely conveyed the feeling of what the theme was about.

Report generation was the final stage in thematic analysis. Microsoft SmartArt graphic was used to graphically represent the hierarchical relationships between the higher and lower orders of themes and subthemes.

Results

Stressors

The stressors were broadly classified into groups -internal and external stressors, as shown in figure 1. The results of the current study indicated a higher proportion of student audiologists (n= 108) were impacted by internal than external (n=2) stressors. Thematic analysis of the responses revealed four main themes: self, client, clinic (internal) and covid (external). Among the internal stressors, clinic-related stressors were found to be most reported by participants (n= 77) as compared to self (n= 21) and client-related (n=10) stressors.



Figure 1: Internal and External stressors reported by student audiologists

Theme 1: Clinic-related

Theme 1 described the stressors related to time pressure, management & supervision, clinical protocols & procedures and challenges with equipment & resource, as shown in figure 2. In regard to time, participants (n=28) described how time constraints around client consult and report writing evoked stress.

Participant 6: not enough time for reports

Participant 22: time restriction of a consult

Another clinic-related theme that emerged was management and supervision. Participants (n=22) reported feeling stressed due to poor leadership, supervision style and inadequate support from peers.

Participant 20: Supervisors not teaching properly

Participant 30: Inconsistent leadership/guidance

With regard to clinical protocols, participants (n=21) described stress caused due to lack of knowledge and experience in diagnostic assessment and device fitting. Additionally, student audiologists experienced stress associated with seeking suitable solutions for their clients.

Participant 17: Wanting to give accurate treatment (P17)

Less frequently, student audiologists (n=6) reported stress due to unfamiliarity with the range of equipment available, lack of experience in the usage of equipment due to poor accessibility and challenges with using outdated resources.
Participant 21: Having so may ["sic" "many"] students in the room during each teaching session with a client

Participant 29: Several types of equipment for the same thing



Figure 2: Clinical-related Stressors reported by student audiologists

Theme 2: Self

Theme 2 describes the personal stressors related to the participant's psychological, physical, emotional, and financial well-being, as shown in figure 3. Stressors related to study, work-life balance, and introspection were the commonly reported themes. Students reported experiencing stress due to academic demands and new learning (n=9), work-life balance (n=5), study (n=9) and negative emotions due to feeling inexperienced (n=4). Other stressors reported by students included eating habits (n=1), health (n=1) and financial constraints (n=1) due to student loans or limited income.

Participant 12: Not able to turn off at home

Participant 17: Absorbing new information



Figure 3: Self-related Stressors reported by student audiologists

Theme 3: Client-related

Theme 3 describes the stressors associated with client consultation (n=6) and dealing with challenging clients (n=4), as shown in figure 4. Stress reported was related to student audiologists' communication skills when having difficult conversations with their clients.

• Participant 28: Discussing benefits of hearing aids with certain clients



Figure 4: Client-related stressors reported by student audiologists

Theme 4: Covid

Covid emerged as a theme, with two participants reporting stress due to covid, as shown in

figure 1.

Effects of Stress

The effects of stress reported by student audiologists were classified as positive, negative, or minimal-to-no stress based on their impact, as shown in figures 5, 6 and 7. Three participants reported minimal-to-no stress, while one participant experienced a positive effect of stress. The majority of student audiologists (n=42) reported the negative effects of stress. Health-related stressors, including physical, mental and sleep symptoms, were found to be the most reported impacts of stress. Student audiologists reported headaches, fatigue, sleep disruption, anxiety, fear, low motivation and confidence. Additional effects on eating habits and the ability to manage expenses and debt were reported. Poor work-life balance due to excessive working hours, lack of personal time and study time were other reported effects of stress that resulted in a negative impact on student audiologists. Furthermore, behavioural effects such as difficulty staying focussed & performance inefficacy, feeling discouraged, and strain on relationships were other adverse effects of stress reported by student audiologists.



Figure 5: The effects of stress reported by student audiologists



Figure 6: The adverse effects of stress reported by student audiologists



Figure 7: Health, work-life and behavioural effects of stress reported by student audiologists

Coping Mechanisms

Student audiologists reported using a range of coping mechanisms to help relieve stress. These were grouped into five themes, as shown in figure 8.



Figure 8: Coping mechanisms reported by student audiologists

Theme 1: The majority of student audiologists (n=21) reported using communication and social interaction as coping mechanisms in the form of spending time with family, catharsis, debriefing with peers, meeting with friends and introspection.

Participant 18: Going out with friends for a coffee or a drink afterwards

Participant 24: Complaining

Theme 2: Engaging in physical activities such as exercise, dance and playing games was the next most commonly reported coping mechanism (n=15).

Participant 25: Exercise regularly when possible (P25)

Theme 3: Student audiologists (n=14) reported using leisure activities such as watching tv, reading, sleeping, taking time off and eating/drinking to relieve stress.

Participant 26: Taking breaks when possible (P26)

Theme 4: Meditation and spiritual healing, such as participating in yoga and church, were reported as coping mechanisms by four participants.

Participant 6: Yoga

Theme 5: Humour and seeking constructive ways to mitigate stress were reported as some other ways student audiologists (n=2) relieved stress.

Discussion

The study aimed to identify different occupational stressors experienced by student audiologists, the effects of those stressors and the coping mechanisms adopted by students to relieve stress. High levels of occupational stress were reported by student audiologists in this study. Prolonged stress has been associated with an increased risk of compassion fatigue and burnout and may present with physical, emotional, and behavioural symptoms (Bartlett, 1998; Buell & Eliot, 1979).

The findings of this study share similarities with previous studies exploring occupational stress among audiologists in New Zealand (Severn et al., 2012), America (Emanuel, 2021; Zimmer et al., 2022), India (Ravi et al., 2015) and Sweden (Brännström et al., 2016). Demand on time was found to be the most commonly identified sub-theme among student audiologists in this study. Time demand was also recognised as the most common stressor in the study by Severn et al. (2012), with a third of the audiologists reporting moderate or higher levels of stress due to demands on time.

Managing large caseloads and short appointment durations were identified as contributors to their stress. Ravi et al. (2015) found paperwork and administration to be the most significant stressors for audiologists working in educational settings (82.5%), with stressors being attributed to preparing for lectures and examinations, increased record keeping and marking papers.

For student audiologists in the current study, in addition to these stressors, time demand was also attributed to other factors. Student audiologists are required to manage the needs of study

alongside clinical demands, which was reflected in the participant responses. Stressful clinical experiences can negatively impact the ability of students to resolve problems and impair their learning and cognitive thinking (Shipton, 1994). Participants in the present study reported experiencing stress in relation to allocating study time, keeping up with readings, inflexible hours, report writing and keeping within the short time durations allocated for consults. Several studies have reported high stress and anxiety levels experienced by students during their clinical training (Sarid et al., 2004; Seaward, 2021). Clinical education has been perceived as a stressful event by novice nursing students (McKenna & Plummer, 2013), with clinical environment, style of supervision, and student-supervisor relationship have been proposed to impact the learning experience of nursing students during clinical training (González-García et al., 2021).

Management and supervision was the second most commonly reported sub-theme. Similar to the *time* sub-theme, the management and supervision sub-theme can also be linked to findings from previous literature. Severn et al. (2012) identified management to be a strong predictor of stress among NZ Audiologists. While professional audiologists reported management-related stress in relation to workplace management (Brännström et al., 2016) and performance-related targets (Ravi et al., 2015), student audiologists were found to experience stress in relation to supervision style and poor leadership. Participants in this study reported a lack of adequate support, different supervision styles, supervision pressures, inconsistent leadership and guidance and lack of vision in leadership to be sources of stress. Poor teamwork and reduced management support cause work pressure (Moreno Fortes et al., 2020).

Stress in relation to lack of knowledge and experience with clinical protocols was another prominent sub-theme reported by student audiologists. Audiologists are expected to provide solutions to clients with a wide range of complexities and needs while keeping up-to-date with the latest technology and clinical procedures. Student audiologists expressed their lack of experience with diagnostic assessments, hearing aid fitting procedures, low confidence in sharing test results and a desire to provide the best solution for their clients as contributing factors to their stress. Although the clinical protocol was found to be a prominent stressor in the current study, it was found to have a minimal impact on stress among qualified audiologists (Brännström et al., 2016; Severn et al., 2012), with only 9% of New Zealand audiologists reporting moderate to high levels of stress in relation to clinical protocols. These differences could be attributed to student audiologists' limited experience in the clinical environment as compared to qualified audiologists.

Other sub-themes, including study, equipment and resources, work-life balance, patient contact and introspection, were identified as stressors. Students described experiencing pressure in relation to exams and keeping up with new learning and research. Unfamiliarity with equipment and having to work with outdated equipment were identified as stressors by student audiologists. Audiological equipment was also identified as a source of stress by audiologists working in public health settings, with stressors being attributed to the broad scope of practice (Ravi et al., 2015; Severn et al., 2012).

Although the effects of stress can range from having a positive, minimal, to negative impact on an individual, the majority of the student audiologists in the study reported experiencing the negative effects of stress. The negative effects of stress on emotional (Beiter et al., 2015), social

(Stebleton et al., 2014), and physical & mental well-being (Dalton & Hammen, 2018) have been reported in numerous studies. Additionally, studies with students pursuing healthcare courses such as medicine (Finkelstein et al., 2007; T. Jacob et al., 2013), nursing (Watson et al., 2008), occupation therapy (Everly et al., 1994), physical therapy (Nerdrum et al., 2009), speech & audiology (Moore, 2022; Wahat et al., 2012) and dental (Elani et al., 2014; T. Jacob et al., 2013) have reported elevated levels of perceived stress than the general population of students.

Health-related effects were most commonly reported, with mental health being the most identified area to be impacted by stress in the present study. Study participants reported emotional symptoms such as frustration, anxiety, moodiness, and irritability, which could be likely indicators of prolonged stress, as found in several past studies (Moffat et al., 2004; Shauna L Shapiro et al., 2000; Stecker, 2004). Student audiologists reported physical symptoms of Headaches, stomach aches, muscle tension and fatigue, in addition to sleep difficulties.

Research has consistently demonstrated that excessive stress causes the body to make internal changes to resist external forces (Kültz, 2020) and disrupts the normal functioning of the digestive, cardiovascular, sleep, immune and reproductive systems. Increased stress levels can cause the over-deliverance of stress hormones and elevate blood pressure levels (Mariotti, 2015). Sleep disturbance, including sleep deprivation, poor sleep quality and daytime sleepiness, have been identified as the most prevalent health problem among students (Mahadule et al., 2022).

Student audiologists in the study identified work-life balance to be adversely affected by stress. This effect of stress was attributed to working long hours with no personal time to de-stress,

experiencing constant pressure to upskill and study during free time, as participants reported feeling that they were unable to detach themselves from work.

The adverse effects of stress in the form of behavioural symptoms of nervousness, decreased self-esteem, loss of concentration and incompetency were reported by the participants in the current study. Student audiologists reported feeling emotionally exhausted from being available for friends and family and felt less helpful in general. Similar findings of reduced attention, decreased concentration, low confidence, poor decision-making skills, and behavioural difficulties as a result of anxiety have also been reported in past studies conducted with healthcare students, resulting in poor academic performance and professional inefficacy (S. L. Shapiro et al., 2000; Walsh et al., 2010). Occupational stress has been reported to affect the quality of service provision and patient care (Bruce et al., 2005) within the primary medical industry, including physicians (Jasperse et al., 2014), oncologists, and mental health professionals (Bruce et al., 2005; Campbell et al., 2001; Samantha Marriage & Keith Marriage, 2005; Maytum et al., 2004) and nurses (Happell et al., 2013).

Financial stress from having to manage student loans and expenses was reported to have negative effects on the study participants. Roberts et al. (1999) proposed a cause-and-effect relationship exists between mental and financial health, with one element aggravating the other, leading to the unavoidable worsening of the situation. Furthermore, the relationship between debt and suicidal ideation, depression, alcohol and drug usage, and neurological and psychological disorders is significant (Richardson et al., 2013). Students' education debt, emotional exhaustion, and depersonalization have been found to be positively correlated. West

et al. (2011) reported that students with higher education loans were found to have greater emotional exhaustion and depersonalization.

Poor eating habits have been identified as a negative effect of stress among student audiologists. Similar findings were seen in a study investigating occupational stress among medical doctors in United Kingdom, with 24-29% of the doctors having negative emotions after overeating and 8% of respondents found suffering from binge-eating disorder indicating uncontrollable eating habits as a method of coping mechanism (Medisauskaite & Kamau, 2019). Numerous studies have reported that healthcare professionals are more susceptible to burnout (Figley, 2013), secondary traumatic stress (Bride & Figley, 2007), vicarious traumatization (Bride, 2004) and reduced compassion and job satisfaction (Stamm, 2010) due to the demanding nature of their job. Effective coping mechanisms are essential in order to manage prolonged occupational stress. Student audiologists in the study were found to be using a variety of coping mechanisms to relieve stress. Emotion-focused coping strategies were found to be most commonly adopted, with communication and social interaction identified as the key coping mechanisms.

Physical activities, including workouts, playing games and dancing as coping mechanisms, were reported in the present study. Among the coping mechanisms identified by the participants, workout/exercise was found to be the most commonly reported coping mechanism overall. This method of active coping may be associated with the poor physical and mental well-being reported by study participants as a result of stress. A study with NZ athletes proposed physical

activity to have a positive impact on both physical and emotional well-being, with progressive and regular training found to shape one's resistance to stress (Dugdale et al., 2002).

Family support was found to be the second most commonly reported coping strategy after workouts/exercise. Participants reported seeking emotional support from family and friends by spending time with them and debriefing with co-workers. A study with nursing students in Australia proposed the development of social support system with family, friends & co-workers aided in minimising the adverse impact of stress (Lo, 2002).

Self-reflection as a coping mechanism involves the process of introspecting and seeking reassurance when confronted with uncertainty. A study with trauma therapists found a decrease in resilience with increasing levels of burnout (David, 2012). Hwang and Shin (2018) found students with higher resilience continued their studies, while 49.2% of nursing students with clinical experience and encountering academic burnout desired to change courses. Research on reflection and reflective practice found certain forms of introspection to improve resilience and personal growth (Kealy et al., 2021). However, the exact relationship between reflective functioning and resilience growth requires further research.

Student audiologists reported using emotional catharsis-enabled coping while dealing with stressful events. Catharsis is referred to as purgation of negative emotions of anger, fear or anxiety while restoring to normal state (Scheff & Bushnell, 1984). Catharsis was reported to be a part of curative process, beneficial in minimizing stress and anxiety (Scheff et al., 1982). It is also reported to be used as a therapeutic tool to treat people with emotional disorders (Nichols & Efran, 1985). However, modern research suggests that coping mechanisms such as venting

emotions can be maladaptive as they focus on alleviating the emotions causing distress as opposed to managing the stressor, and may result in aggressive behaviour (Bushman et al., 1999).

Leisure activities aimed at avoiding stressful situations through mental disengagement, i.e., watching tv, reading, sleeping, eating and drinking, were reported by student audiologists. Participants also reported using regular breaks and time off when possible as coping strategies to minimize stress. Leisure activities such as talking to friends, sports, and accessing support services have been identified as effective coping strategies, while avoidance and escape behaviours have been found to be counterproductive in mitigating stress (Al-Zayyat & Al-Gamal, 2014; McCarthy et al., 2018; Tully, 2004).

In general, emotion-focused coping strategies have been found to be less effective as compared to problem-focused strategies (Folkman & Lazarus, 1988). Emotion-focused coping strategies used by research students to overcome stress were found to adversely affect mental health as compared to students who used a problem-solving approach to coping with stress (Ab Latif & Nor, 2019; Chan et al., 2009). However, it is important to note that individual differences in aspects such as the pattern of motivation, belief about self and the environment and identification of personal resources for coping influence the appraisal of the personenvironment outcome, attributing to the kinds of coping implemented (Folkman & Lazarus, 1980).

Limitations

While the present study provides insights into occupational stress, the effects of stress and the coping mechanism deployed by student audiologists, the study has a few limitations. Firstly, data were collected using a structured self-administered questionnaire which can result in participant bias and may cause an inaccurate representation of the participant's thoughts and feelings. However, it was advantageous for the purpose of this Master's thesis project and enabled a low-cost way of obtaining results in a timely manner.

Unlike other qualitative approaches, the thematic analysis used in the study is a conducive and accessible form of analysis that does not require extensive theoretical and technological understanding (Nowell et al., 2017). It allowed for summarizing the main findings of a large data set and designing a clear and organized report. However, the study may lack cohesion and consistency as themes were developed from the research data, and it may be difficult for the researcher to interpret or make claims about language use.

Future Research

While the current study identifies the perspective of different study participants and establishes similarities and differences, there are insufficient findings to outline the cause-and-effect relationship between stressors and coping mechanisms. The present study reports on several coping mechanisms adopted by the participants to deal with occupational stressors. However, the effects produced by using certain coping style is not fully understood and are missing. Additionally, the grouping of interventions into specific categories of coping, such as emotionfocused, problem-focused, avoidance or active, can be challenging. For example, sleeping is considered an active coping mechanism to overcome sleep deprivation or can be a mental disengagement to distract themselves from stress. Furthermore, the present study does not address factors such as age, gender or personality traits that are found to influence certain coping strategies (Monteiro et al., 2014). This provides a scope to conduct future studies to gather a complete understanding of the causal relationship between stressors and coping strategies among student audiologists.

Conclusion

The results of the present study have highlighted that student audiologists are impacted by occupational stress and use a variety of coping mechanisms to manage or overcome the effects of the stressors. With the alarming rates of burnout and mental health issues consistently reported in literature amongst students in healthcare professions and the lack of research on student audiologists, there is a need for future research to explore appropriate support services that universities and placement clinics can implement to enable student audiologists to thrive and succeed in their chosen field of study.

References

- Ab Latif, R., & Nor, M. Z. M. (2019). Stressors and coping strategies during clinical practice among diploma nursing students. *The Malaysian journal of medical sciences: MJMS, 26*(2), 88.
- Abdulghani, H. M., AlKanhal, A. A., Mahmoud, E. S., Ponnamperuma, G. G., & Alfaris, E. A. (2011). Stress and its effects on medical students: a cross-sectional study at a college of medicine in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of health, population, and nutrition, 29*(5), 516.
- Adlaf, E. M., Gliksman, L., Demers, A., & Newton-Taylor, B. (2001). The prevalence of elevated psychological distress among Canadian undergraduates: Findings from the 1998 Canadian Campus Survey. *Journal of American College Health*, *50*(2), 67-72.
- Admi, H. (1997, Sep). Nursing students' stress during the initial clinical experience. *J Nurs Educ,* 36(7), 323-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/0148-4834-19970901-07</u>
- Al-Zayyat, A. S., & Al-Gamal, E. (2014, Aug). Perceived stress and coping strategies among Jordanian nursing students during clinical practice in psychiatric/mental health courses. *Int J Ment Health Nurs*, 23(4), 326-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12054</u>
- Alqarni, H., & Alasmee, N. A. (2020). Perceived Stress Level and Coping Mechanisms Among Health Allied Students. *Global Journal of Health Science*, *12*(9), 1-50.
- Alsiö, Å., Wennström, B., Landström, B., & Silén, C. (2019, Mar 27). Implementing clinical education of medical students in hospital communities: experiences of healthcare professionals. *Int J Med Educ*, *10*, 54-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.5c83.cb08</u>
- Alsop, P., & Kupenga, T. R. (2016). *Mauri ora: Wisdom from the Māori world*. Potton & Burton.
- Andrews, B., & Wilding, J. M. (2004, Nov). The relation of depression and anxiety to life-stress and achievement in students. *Br J Psychol*, *95*(Pt 4), 509-521. https://doi.org/10.1348/0007126042369802
- Andrews, B., & Wilding, J. M. (2004). The relation of depression and anxiety to life-stress and achievement in students. *British journal of psychology*, *95*(4), 509-521.
- Ataş, O., & Talo Yildirim, T. (2020). Evaluation of knowledge, attitudes, and clinical education of dental students about COVID-19 pandemic. *PeerJ*, *8*, e9575. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9575</u>
- Aththiligoda, V., Kumara, H., Wijesinghe, W., Chamari, A., Senadheera, A., & De Silva, B. Factors Related to Theory Practice Gap among Student Nurses.

- August, J. N., Boyd, L. D., & Giblin-Scanlon, L. (2018, Sep). Bridging the Theory-Practice Gap with Dental Hygiene Instrumentation Videos. J Dent Educ, 82(9), 961-967. https://doi.org/10.21815/jde.018.095
- Bartlett, D. (1998). Stress: Perspectives and processes. McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Batra, K., Sharma, M., Batra, R., Singh, T. P., & Schvaneveldt, N. (2021). Assessing the psychological impact of COVID-19 among college students: an evidence of 15 countries. Healthcare,
- Beane, A., Padeniya, A., De Silva, A. P., Stephens, T., De Alwis, S., Mahipala, P. G., Sigera, P. C., Munasinghe, S., Weeratunga, P., Ranasinghe, D., Deshani, E. M., Weerasinghe, T., Thilakasiri, K., Jayasinghe, K. A. S., Dondorp, A. M., & Haniffa, R. (2017). Closing the theory to practice gap for newly qualified doctors: evaluation of a peer-delivered practical skills training course for newly qualified doctors in preparation for clinical practice. *Postgraduate medical journal, 93*(1104), 592-596. https://doi.org/10.1136/postgradmedj-2016-134718
- Beck, C. T. (1993). Nursing students' initial clinical experience: a phenomenological study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 30*(6), 489-497.
- Begum, D., Hossain, D., Alam, D., Islam, U., Lemon, H., & Omar, D. (2020). Combating the impact of COVID-19 on public university students through subsidized online class: evidence from Bangladesh. *Journal of Education and Practice, 141*.
- Beiter, R., Nash, R., McCrady, M., Rhoades, D., Linscomb, M., Clarahan, M., & Sammut, S. (2015).
 The prevalence and correlates of depression, anxiety, and stress in a sample of college students. *Journal of affective disorders*, *173*, 90-96.
- Belfield, C., Britton, J., Dearden, L., & Van Der Erve, L. (2017). Higher Education funding in England: past, present and options for the future. *Institute for Fiscal Studies, 5*.
- Bernard, C. (1878). Les phenomenes de la vie. Paris, éditions Baillère.
- Bernard, C. (1957). An introduction to the study of experimental medicine (Vol. 400). Courier Corporation.
- Birks, Y., McKendree, J., & Watt, I. (2009, 2009/09/17). Emotional intelligence and perceived stress in healthcare students: a multi-institutional, multi-professional survey. *BMC Medical Education*, 9(1), 61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-9-61</u>
- Bitran, M., Zúñiga, D., Pedrals, N., Echeverría, G., Vergara, C., Rigotti, A., & Puschel, K. (2019, Apr).
 [Burnout in students of health-care professions. Risk and protection factors]. *Rev Med Chil, 147*(4), 510-517. <u>https://doi.org/10.4067/s0034-98872019000400510</u> (Burnout en

la formación de profesionales de la salud en Chile: Factores de protección y riesgo, y propuestas de abordaje desde la perspectiva de los educadores.)

- Blaga, S. (2012). STUDENTS'PAID EMPLOYMENT AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE AT CARRICK INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION, SYDNEY CAMPUS. *Review of Economic Studies & Research Virgil Madgearu, 5*(1).
- Brännström, K. J., Båsjö, S., Larsson, J., Lood, S., Lundå, S., Notsten, M., & Taheri, S. T. (2013, Mar). Psychosocial work environment among Swedish audiologists. *Int J Audiol, 52*(3), 151-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2012.743045</u>
- Brännström, K. J., Holm, L., Larsson, J., Lood, S., Notsten, M., & Turunen Taheri, S. (2016, Aug). Occupational stress among Swedish audiologists in clinical practice: Reasons for being stressed. *Int J Audiol*, 55(8), 447-453. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2016.1172119</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.
- Bride, B. E. (2004). The impact of providing psychosocial services to traumatized populations. *Stress, Trauma, and Crisis, 7*(1), 29-46.
- Bride, B. E., & Figley, C. R. (2007). The fatigue of compassionate social workers: An introduction to the special issue on compassion fatigue. *Clinical Social Work Journal, 35*, 151-153.
- Brown, S., & Kafka, A. C. (2020). Covid-19 has worsened the student mental-health crisis. Can resilience training fix it. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*.
- Bruce, S. M., Conaglen, H. M., & Conaglen, J. V. (2005, May). Burnout in physicians: a case for peer-support. *Intern Med J,* 35(5), 272-278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-5994.2005.00782.x</u>
- Buchan, J., & Dovlo, D. (2004). International recruitment of health workers to the UK: a report for DFID.
- Buell, J., & Eliot, R. (1979). Stress and cardiovascular disease. *Modern Concepts of Cardiovascular Disease*, 48(4), 19-24.
- Bushman, B. J., Baumeister, R. F., & Stack, A. D. (1999). Catharsis, aggression, and persuasive influence: Self-fulfilling or self-defeating prophecies? *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *76*(3), 367.
- Byrne, B. M. (1993). The Maslach Burnout Inventory: Testing for factorial validity and invariance across elementary, intermediate and secondary teachers. *Journal of Occupational and organizational Psychology*, *66*(3), 197-212.

- Calleja, P., Harvey, T., Fox, A., & Carmichael, M. (2016). Feedback and clinical practice improvement: A tool to assist workplace supervisors and students. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *17*, 167-173.
- Campbell, D. A., Jr., Sonnad, S. S., Eckhauser, F. E., Campbell, K. K., & Greenfield, L. J. (2001, Oct). Burnout among American surgeons. *Surgery*, *130*(4), 696-702; discussion 702-695. https://doi.org/10.1067/msy.2001.116676
- Campbell, T. S., Johnson, J. A., & Zernicke, K. A. (2013). Cognitive Appraisal. In M. D. Gellman & J. R. Turner (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (pp. 442-442). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9 1115
- Carney, C., McNEISH, S., & McCOLL, J. (2005). The impact of part time employment on students' health and academic performance: a Scottish perspective. *Journal of further and higher education*, 29(4), 307-319.
- Carroll, L. (2013). Active Coping. In M. D. Gellman & J. R. Turner (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (pp. 21-21). Springer New York. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9_1085</u>
- Chan, C. K., So, W. K., & Fong, D. Y. (2009). Hong Kong baccalaureate nursing students' stress and their coping strategies in clinical practice. *Journal of professional Nursing*, 25(5), 307-313.
- Chapman, R., & Orb, A. (2001). Coping strategies in clinical practice: The nursing students' lived experience. *Contemporary nurse : a journal for the Australian nursing profession, 11*(1), 95-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.11.1.95</u>
- Chovatiya, R., & Medzhitov, R. (2014, Apr 24). Stress, inflammation, and defense of homeostasis. *Mol Cell*, 54(2), 281-288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.030</u>
- Chrousos, G. P. (2009). Stress and disorders of the stress system. *Nature reviews endocrinology,* 5(7), 374-381.
- Chrousos, G. P., Loriaux, D. L., & Gold, P. W. (2013). *Mechanisms of physical and emotional stress* (Vol. 245). Springer Science & Business Media.
- Chutinan, S., Kim, J., Chien, T., Meyer, H. Y., & Ohyama, H. (2021, Feb). Can an interactive casebased activity help bridge the theory-practice gap in operative dentistry? *Eur J Dent Educ*, 25(1), 199-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/eje.12591</u>
- Cincotta, J. A. (2005). The link between individual occupational stress and organizational effectiveness as shown by performance evaluation, productivity measures, and employee satisfaction. The George Washington University.

- Clynes, M. P., & Raftery, S. E. (2008). Feedback: an essential element of student learning in clinical practice. *Nurse education in practice*, 8(6), 405-411.
- Connor, K. M., & Davidson, J. R. (2003). Development of a new resilience scale: The Connor-Davidson resilience scale (CD-RISC). *Depression and anxiety*, *18*(2), 76-82.
- Cooper, S. J. (2008, 2008/11/01/). From Claude Bernard to Walter Cannon. Emergence of the concept of homeostasis. *Appetite*, 51(3), 419-427. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2008.06.005</u>
- Craig, C. D., & Sprang, G. (2010, May). Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, and burnout in a national sample of trauma treatment therapists. *Anxiety Stress Coping*, *23*(3), 319-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10615800903085818</u>
- Cunanan, A. J., DeWeese, B. H., Wagle, J. P., Carroll, K. M., Sausaman, R., Hornsby, W. G., Haff, G. G., Triplett, N. T., Pierce, K. C., & Stone, M. H. (2018). The general adaptation syndrome: a foundation for the concept of periodization. *Sports Medicine*, *48*(4), 787-797.
- Curtis, S., & Shani, N. (2002). The effect of taking paid employment during term-time on students' academic studies. *Journal of further and higher education, 26*(2), 129-138.
- Cuthbertson, P., Lauder, W., Steele, R., Cleary, S., & Bradshaw, J. (2004). A comparative study of the course-related family and financial problems of mature nursing students in Scotland and Australia. *Nurse Education Today*, *24*(5), 373-381.
- Dahlin, M., Joneborg, N., & Runeson, B. (2005). Stress and depression among medical students: A cross-sectional study. *Medical education*, *39*(6), 594-604.
- Dalton, E. D., & Hammen, C. L. (2018). Independent and relative effects of stress, depressive symptoms, and affect on college students' daily health behaviors. *Journal of behavioral medicine*, *41*(6), 863-874.
- David, D. P. (2012). *Resilience as a protective factor against compassion fatigue in trauma therapists* Walden University].
- De La Rosa, G. M., Webb-Murphy, J. A., Fesperman, S. F., & Johnston, S. L. (2018). Professional quality of life normative benchmarks. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 10*(2), 225.
- Deary, I. J., Watson, R., & Hogston, R. (2003). A longitudinal cohort study of burnout and attrition in nursing students. *Journal of advanced nursing*, *43*(1), 71-81.

- Dewe, P. (1991). Primary appraisal, secondary appraisal and coping: Their role in stressful work encounters. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, *64*(4), 331-351.
- Dugdale, J. R., Eklund, R. C., & Gordon, S. (2002). Expected and unexpected stressors in major international competition: Appraisal, coping, and performance. *The Sport Psychologist*, *16*(1), 20-33.
- Dyrbye, L. N., Massie, F. S., Eacker, A., Harper, W., Power, D., Durning, S. J., Thomas, M. R., Moutier, C., Satele, D., & Sloan, J. (2010). Relationship between burnout and professional conduct and attitudes among US medical students. *Jama*, *304*(11), 1173-1180.
- Dyrbye, L. N., Thomas, M. R., Massie, F. S., Power, D. V., Eacker, A., Harper, W., Durning, S., Moutier, C., Szydlo, D. W., Novotny, P. J., Sloan, J. A., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2008, Sep 2). Burnout and suicidal ideation among U.S. medical students. *Ann Intern Med*, 149(5), 334-341. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-149-5-200809020-00008
- Dyrbye, L. N., Thomas, M. R., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2005). Medical student distress: causes, consequences, and proposed solutions. Mayo Clinic Proceedings,
- Elani, H. W., Allison, P. J., Kumar, R. A., Mancini, L., Lambrou, A., & Bedos, C. (2014, Feb). A systematic review of stress in dental students. *J Dent Educ, 78*(2), 226-242.
- Emanuel, D. C. (2021). Occupational stress in US audiologists. *American Journal of Audiology,* 30(4), 1010-1022.
- Esteghamati, A., Baradaran, H., Monajemi, A., Khankeh, H. R., & Geranmayeh, M. (2016, Apr). Core components of clinical education: a qualitative study with attending physicians and their residents. J Adv Med Educ Prof, 4(2), 64-71.
- Everly, J. S., Poff, D. W., Lamport, N., Hamant, C., & Alvey, G. (1994, Nov-Dec). Perceived stressors and coping strategies of occupational therapy students. *Am J Occup Ther*, 48(11), 1022-1028. <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.48.11.1022</u>
- Ezeudu, F. O., Attah, F. O., Onah, A. E., Nwangwu, T. L., & Nnadi, E. M. (2020, Jan). Intervention for burnout among postgraduate chemistry education students. J Int Med Res, 48(1), 300060519866279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060519866279</u>
- Ferrans, C. E. (1990, Nov). Quality of life: conceptual issues. *Semin Oncol Nurs, 6*(4), 248-254. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-2081(90)90026-2
- Figley, C. R. (2013). Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized. Routledge.

- Finkelstein, C., Brownstein, A., Scott, C., & Lan, Y. L. (2007). Anxiety and stress reduction in medical education: an intervention. *Medical education*, *41*(3), 258-264.
- Finn, P., & Tomz, J. E. (1997). *Developing a law enforcement stress program for officers and their families*. DIANE Publishing.
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1980, Sep). An analysis of coping in a middle-aged community sample. *J Health Soc Behav*, 21(3), 219-239.
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1988, 1988/01/01/). The relationship between coping and emotion: Implications for theory and research. *Social Science & Medicine, 26*(3), 309-317. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(88)90395-4
- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R. S., Dunkel-Schetter, C., DeLongis, A., & Gruen, R. J. (1986, May). Dynamics of a stressful encounter: cognitive appraisal, coping, and encounter outcomes. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, *50*(5), 992-1003. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.50.5.992
- Ford, J., Bosworth, D., & Wilson, R. (1995). Part-time work and full-time higher education. *Studies in Higher Education, 20*(2), 187-202.
- Franco, L. M., Bennett, S., & Kanfer, R. (2002, 2002/04/01/). Health sector reform and public sector health worker motivation: a conceptual framework. *Social Science & Medicine*, 54(8), 1255-1266. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00094-6</u>
- Fuse-Nagase, Y., Marutani, T., Tachikawa, H., Iwami, T., Yamamoto, Y., Moriyama, T., & Yasumi,K. (2021). Increase in suicide rates among undergraduate students in Japanese national universities during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*.
- Gallegos, K. V., Bettinardi-Angres, K., & Talbott, G. D. (1990, Nov). The effect of physician impairment on the family. *Md Med J*, *39*(11), 1007-1011.
- Galvin, J., & Smith, A. P. (2015). Stress in UK mental health training: A multi-dimensional comparison study. *British Journal of Education, Society & Behavioural Science, 9*(3), 161-175.
- Gibbons, C. H. (2019). Basics of autonomic nervous system function. *Handb Clin Neurol, 160,* 407-418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-64032-1.00027-8</u>
- Gill, A., Biger, N., & Bhutani, S. (2010). Factors that mitigate employee job stress in the service industry. *International Journal of Services, Economics and Management, 2*(1), 30-45.
- Gold, J. A. (2020, May 5). Covid-19: adverse mental health outcomes for healthcare workers. *bmj,* 369, m1815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1815</u>

Goldstein, D. S., & Kopin, I. J. (2007). Evolution of concepts of stress. *Stress*, 10(2), 109-120.

- González-García, A., Díez-Fernández, A., Leino-Kilpi, H., Martínez-Vizcaíno, V., & Strandell-Laine, C. (2021). The relationship between clinical placement duration and students' satisfaction with the quality of supervision and learning environment: A mediation analysis. *Nursing & health sciences*, 23(3), 688-697. https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12855
- Gray, M. A., & Smith, L. N. (2000). The qualities of an effective mentor from the student nurse's perspective: findings from a longitudinal qualitative study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *32*(6), 1542-1549.
- Greenway, K., Butt, G., & Walthall, H. (2019). What is a theory-practice gap? An exploration of the concept. *Nurse education in practice, 34*, 1-6.
- Greenwell, T., & Walsh, B. (2021, Jan 27). Evidence-Based Practice in Speech-Language Pathology: Where Are We Now? *Am J Speech Lang Pathol, 30*(1), 186-198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2020 ajslp-20-00194</u>
- Halter, M., Boiko, O., Pelone, F., Beighton, C., Harris, R., Gale, J., Gourlay, S., & Drennan, V. (2017). The determinants and consequences of adult nursing staff turnover: a systematic review of systematic reviews. *BMC health services research*, *17*(1), 1-20.
- Hanberg, A., & Brown, S. C. (2006). Bridging the Theory–Practice Gap With Evidence-Based Practice. *The Journal of continuing education in nursing*, *37*(6), 248-249. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20061101-07
- Happell, B., Dwyer, T., Reid-Searl, K., Burke, K. J., Caperchione, C. M., & Gaskin, C. J. (2013). Nurses and stress: recognizing causes and seeking solutions. *Journal of nursing management*, 21(4), 638-647.
- Higgs, J. O. Y., Hunt, A., Higgs, C., & Neubauer, D. (1999, 1999/01/01). Physiotherapy Education in the Changing International Healthcare and Educational Contexts. *Advances in Physiotherapy*, 1(1), 17-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/140381999443528</u>
- Holahan, C. J., Moos, R. H., Holahan, C. K., Brennan, P. L., & Schutte, K. K. (2005, Aug). Stress generation, avoidance coping, and depressive symptoms: a 10-year model. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 73(4), 658-666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.73.4.658</u>
- Huckins, J. F., Wang, W., Hedlund, E., Rogers, C., Nepal, S. K., Wu, J., Obuchi, M., Murphy, E. I., Meyer, M. L., & Wagner, D. D. (2020). Mental health and behavior of college students during the early phases of the COVID-19 pandemic: Longitudinal smartphone and ecological momentary assessment study. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 22(6), e20185.

- Hughes, P. (2002). Can we improve on how we select medical students? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 95*(1), 18-22.
- Hwang, E., & Kim, J. (2022). Factors affecting academic burnout of nursing students according to clinical practice experience. *BMC Medical Education, 22*(1), 1-10.
- Hwang, E., & Shin, S. (2018, Dec). Characteristics of nursing students with high levels of academic resilience: A cross-sectional study. Nurse Educ Today, 71, 54-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.09.011</u>
- Ibrahim, A. K., Kelly, S. J., Adams, C. E., & Glazebrook, C. (2013). A systematic review of studies of depression prevalence in university students. *Journal of psychiatric research*, *47*(3), 391-400.
- Inam, S. B. (2007). Anxiety and depression among students of a medical college in Saudi Arabia. *International journal of health sciences, 1*(2), 295.
- Jacob, T., Itzchak, E. B., & Raz, O. (2013, Jul). Stress among healthcare students--a cross disciplinary perspective. *Physiother Theory Pract, 29*(5), 401-412. https://doi.org/10.3109/09593985.2012.734011
- Jacob, T., Itzchak, E. B., & Raz, O. (2013). Stress among healthcare students–a cross disciplinary perspective. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*, *29*(5), 401-412.
- Jafree, S. R., Momina, A. u., Malik, N., Naqi, S. A., & Fischer, F. (2021). Challenges in providing surgical procedures during the COVID-19 pandemic: Qualitative study among Operating Department Practitioners in Pakistan. *Science Progress*, *104*(2), 00368504211023282.
- Jagodics, B., & Szabó, É. (2022, 2022/01/06). Student Burnout in Higher Education: A Demand-Resource Model Approach. *Trends in Psychology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43076-021-00137-4</u>
- Jasperse, M., Herst, P., & Dungey, G. (2014, Jan). Evaluating stress, burnout and job satisfaction in New Zealand radiation oncology departments. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl), 23*(1), 82-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.12098</u>
- Jin, P. (2012). Stress and Learning. In N. M. Seel (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning* (pp. 3202-3205). Springer US. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_203</u>
- Johnson, E. O., Kamilaris, T. C., Chrousos, G. P., & Gold, P. W. (1992). Mechanisms of stress: a dynamic overview of hormonal and behavioral homeostasis. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *16*(2), 115-130.

- Johnson, N. P., Michels, P. J., & Thomas, J. C. (1990). Screening tests identify the prevalence of alcohol use among freshman medical students and among students' family of origin. *Journal of the South Carolina Medical Association, 86 1*, 13-14.
- Johnstone, D. B., & Marcucci, P. N. (2007). Worldwide trends in higher education finance: Costsharing, student loans, and the support of academic research. *Commissioned paper V. Lynn Meek and Dianne Davies, 81*, 1-36.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (1997, Sep). Distress, stress and coping in first-year student nurses. J Adv Nurs, 26(3), 475-482. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.1997.t01-5-00999.x</u>
- Kachel, T., Huber, A., Strecker, C., Höge, T., & Höfer, S. (2020). Development of cynicism in medical students: exploring the role of signature character strengths and well-being. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 328.
- Kasl, S. V. (1984). Stress and health. Annual review of public health, 5(1), 319-341.
- Kassir, G., El Hayek, S., Zalzale, H., Orsolini, L., & Bizri, M. (2021). Psychological distress experienced by self-quarantined undergraduate university students in Lebanon during the COVID-19 outbreak. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice*, 1-8.
- Kealy, D., Rice, S. M., Seidler, Z. E., Oliffe, J. L., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2021, Oct). Reflective functioning and men's mental health: Associations with resilience and personal growth initiative. *Stress Health*, 37(4), 706-714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.3030</u>
- Kecojevic, A., Basch, C. H., Sullivan, M., & Davi, N. K. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on mental health of undergraduate students in New Jersey, cross-sectional study. *PLoS One*, 15(9), e0239696.
- Kisely, S., Warren, N., McMahon, L., Dalais, C., Henry, I., & Siskind, D. (2020). Occurrence, prevention, and management of the psychological effects of emerging virus outbreaks on healthcare workers: rapid review and meta-analysis. *bmj*, *369*.
- Kohls, E., Baldofski, S., Moeller, R., Klemm, S.-L., & Rummel-Kluge, C. (2021). Mental Health, Social and Emotional Well-Being, and Perceived Burdens of University Students During COVID-19 Pandemic Lockdown in Germany. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *12*, 441.

Kopelman, L. (1983). Cynicism among medical students. Jama, 250(15), 2006-2010.

Kosi, T., Nastav, B., & Šušteršič, J. (2013). Does student employment deteriorate academic performance? The case of Slovenia. *Revija za socijalnu politiku, 20*(3), 253-274.

- Kültz, D. (2020). Defining biological stress and stress responses based on principles of physics. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology, 333(6), 350-358.
- Ladany, N., Mori, Y., & Mehr, K. E. (2013). Effective and Ineffective Supervision. *The Counseling* psychologist, 41(1), 28-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000012442648</u>
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. Springer publishing company.
- Lee, J., Jeong, H. J., & Kim, S. (2021). Stress, Anxiety, and Depression Among Undergraduate Students during the COVID-19 Pandemic and their Use of Mental Health Services. *Innov High Educ*, 46(5), 519-538. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-021-09552-y
- Lee, M., & Lim, S. (2017). Relationships among academic burnout, stress coping and college adjustment in nursing students. *Asia-pacific Journal of Multimedia Services Convergent with Art, Humanities, and Sociology, 7*(6), 521-534.
- Leiter, M. P., & Maslach, C. (2016). Latent burnout profiles: A new approach to understanding the burnout experience. *Burnout research, 3*(4), 89-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burn.2016.09.001
- Leka, S., Griffiths, A., Cox, T., & Organization, W. H. (2003). *Work organisation and stress:* systematic problem approaches for employers, managers and trade union representatives. World Health Organization.
- Li, S., Wang, C., Wang, W., Dong, H., Hou, P., & Tang, Y. (2008, Apr 23). Chronic mild stress impairs cognition in mice: from brain homeostasis to behavior. *Life Sci, 82*(17-18), 934-942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2008.02.010
- Lincoln, M., Adamson, B., & Covic, T. (2004). Perceptions of stress, time management and coping strategies of speech pathology students on clinical placement. *Advances in speech language pathology*, 6(2), 91-99.
- Littlewood, S., Ypinazar, V., Margolis, S. A., Scherpbier, A., Spencer, J., & Dornan, T. (2005). Early practical experience and the social responsiveness of clinical education: systematic review. *Bmj*, *331*(7513), 387-391.
- Lo, R. (2002). A longitudinal study of perceived level of stress, coping and self-esteem of undergraduate nursing students: an Australian case study. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 39(2), 119-126.
- Ludwig, A. B., Burton, W., Weingarten, J., Milan, F., Myers, D. C., & Kligler, B. (2015, Aug 27). Depression and stress amongst undergraduate medical students. *BMC Med Educ, 15*, 141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-015-0425-z</u>

- Lyth, G. M. (2000). Clinical supervision: a concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *31*(3), 722-729.
- Mahadule, A. A., Mittal, S., Khapre, M., Goel, A., Patil, P. M., & Mohan, L. (2022, Jul). Sleep quality and sleep hygiene in preclinical medical students of tertiary care center amidst COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional observational study. J Rural Med, 17(3), 137-142. https://doi.org/10.2185/jrm.2021-048
- Mahat, G. (1998). Stress and coping: junior baccalaureate nursing students in clinical settings. Nursing forum,
- Manchaiah, V., Easwar, V., Boothalingam, S., Chundu, S., & Krishna, R. (2015). Psychological work environment and professional satisfaction among Indian audiologists. *International Journal*, *3*(1), 21.
- Mariotti, A. (2015, Nov). The effects of chronic stress on health: new insights into the molecular mechanisms of brain-body communication. *Future Sci OA*, 1(3), Fso23. https://doi.org/10.4155/fso.15.21
- Marriage, S., & Marriage, K. (2005). Too many sad stories: Clinician stress and coping. *The Canadian Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Review*, 14(4), 114.
- Marriage, S., & Marriage, K. (2005, Nov). Too many sad stories: clinician stress and coping. *Can Child Adolesc Psychiatr Rev, 14*(4), 114-117.
- Martin, F., Poyen, D., Bouderlique, E., Gouvernet, J., Rivet, B., Disdier, P., Martinez, O., & Scotto, J. C. (1997, Jul). Depression and Burnout in Hospital Health Care Professionals. *Int J Occup Environ Health, 3*(3), 204-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/oeh.1997.3.3.204</u>
- Maslach, C. (1998). A multidimensional theory of burnout. *Theories of organizational stress,* 68(85), 16.
- Maytum, J. C., Heiman, M. B., & Garwick, A. W. (2004, Jul-Aug). Compassion fatigue and burnout in nurses who work with children with chronic conditions and their families. *J Pediatr Health Care, 18*(4), 171-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedhc.2003.12.005</u>
- McCarthy, B., Trace, A., O'Donovan, M., Brady-Nevin, C., Murphy, M., O'Shea, M., & O'Regan, P. (2018). Nursing and midwifery students' stress and coping during their undergraduate education programmes: An integrative review. *Nurse education today, 61*, 197-209.
- McKenna, L., & Plummer, V. (2013). Indonesian student nurses' perceptions of stress in clinical learning: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, *3*(5), 56-65.

- Medisauskaite, A., & Kamau, C. (2019). Does occupational distress raise the risk of alcohol use, binge-eating, ill health and sleep problems among medical doctors? A UK cross-sectional study. *BMJ open*, *9*(5), e027362.
- Michel, V. (2018). Directive 2005/36/EC on the recognition of professional qualifications. International and European Labour Law,
- Mitchell, J. (2020, 2020/09/01/). Juggling employment and studies: Nursing students' perceptions of the influence of paid employment on their success. *Nurse Education Today*, *92*, 104429. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104429</u>
- Mivšek, P., Äimälä, A.-M., Žvanut, B., & Tuomi, J. (2018, 2018/06/01/). Midwifery students' wellbeing among undegraduates in Slovenia: A pilot study. *Midwifery, 61,* 63-65. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2018.02.020
- Mladen, S., Loughan, A., Kinser, P., Crawford, M., Jones, A., Edwards, S., Rybarczyk, B., & Braun, S. E. (2019). An analysis of psychological distress profiles and their correlates in interdisciplinary health-care professional students. *Global Advances in Health and Medicine*, 8, 2164956119879872.
- Moffat, K. J., McConnachie, A., Ross, S., & Morrison, J. M. (2004, May). First year medical student stress and coping in a problem-based learning medical curriculum. *Med Educ, 38*(5), 482-491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2929.2004.01814.x</u>
- Mohren, D. C., Swaen, G. M., Kant, I., van Amelsvoort, L. G., Borm, P. J., & Galama, J. M. (2003). Common infections and the role of burnout in a Dutch working population. *Journal of psychosomatic research*, *55*(3), 201-208.
- Monk, E. M. (2004). Student mental health. Part 2: the main study and reflection of significant issues. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly, 17*(1), 33-43.
- Monteiro, N. M., Balogun, S. K., & Oratile, K. N. (2014, Jun). Managing stress: the influence of gender, age and emotion regulation on coping among university students in Botswana. *Int J Adolesc Youth*, 19(2), 153-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2014.908784</u>
- Moore, G. (2022). Occupational stress, resilience, compassion satisfaction and burnout in recently qualified audiologists.
- Moreno Fortes, A., Tian, L., & Huebner, E. S. (2020). Occupational Stress and Employees Complete Mental Health: A Cross-Cultural Empirical Study. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(10), 3629. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17103629</u>

- Morgantini, L. A., Naha, U., Wang, H., Francavilla, S., Acar, Ö., Flores, J. M., Crivellaro, S., Moreira, D., Abern, M., Eklund, M., Vigneswaran, H. T., & Weine, S. M. (2020). Factors contributing to healthcare professional burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic: A rapid turnaround global survey. *PloS one, 15*(9), e0238217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238217</u>
- Mundy, M. R. (2006). Stress Management within Audiology Supervision. Seminars in Hearing,
- Murphy, M., & Murphy, E. C. (1996). Cutting healthcare costs through work force reductions. *Healthcare Financial Management*, *50*(7), 64-70.
- Mustafa, M., Illzam, E., Muniandy, R., Hashmi, M., Sharifa, A., & Nang, M. (2015). Causes and prevention of occupational stress. *IOSR Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences*, 14(11), 98-104.
- Nerdrum, P., Rust⊘ en, T., & Helge R⊘ nnestad, M. (2009). Psychological distress among nursing, physiotherapy and occupational therapy students: A longitudinal and predictive study. *Scandinavian journal of educational research*, *53*(4), 363-378.
- Nichols, M. P., & Efran, J. S. (1985). Catharsis in psychotherapy: A new perspective. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 22*(1), 46.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International journal of qualitative methods*, *16*(1), 1609406917733847.
- Oloidi, F. J., Sewagegn, A. A., Amanambu, O. V., Umeano, B. C., & Ilechukwu, L. C. (2022). Academic burnout among undergraduate history students: Effect of an intervention. *Medicine*, 101(7), e28886. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/md.00000000028886</u>
- Parola, V., Coelho, A., Cardoso, D., Sandgren, A., & Apóstolo, J. (2017, Jul). Prevalence of burnout in health professionals working in palliative care: a systematic review. *JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep,* 15(7), 1905-1933. <u>https://doi.org/10.11124/jbisrir-2016-003309</u>
- Pascoe, M. C., Hetrick, S. E., & Parker, A. G. (2020). The impact of stress on students in secondary school and higher education. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, *25*(1), 104-112.
- Pau, A. K., & Croucher, R. (2003, Sep). Emotional intelligence and perceived stress in dental undergraduates. *J Dent Educ*, 67(9), 1023-1028.
- Penley, J. A., Tomaka, J., & Wiebe, J. S. (2002, Dec). The association of coping to physical and psychological health outcomes: a meta-analytic review. J Behav Med, 25(6), 551-603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1020641400589</u>

- Pruessner, J. C., Dedovic, K., Pruessner, M., Lord, C., Buss, C., Collins, L., Dagher, A., & Lupien, S. J. (2010, 2010/01/01/). Stress regulation in the central nervous system: evidence from structural and functional neuroimaging studies in human populations 2008 Curt Richter Award Winner. *Psychoneuroendocrinology, 35*(1), 179-191. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.02.016
- Quick, J. C., & Henderson, D. F. (2016). Occupational Stress: Preventing Suffering, Enhancing Wellbeing. International journal of environmental research and public health, 13(5), 459. https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/13/5/459
- Rao, J. V., & Chandraiah, K. (2012). Occupational stress, mental health and coping among information technology professionals. *Indian journal of occupational and environmental medicine*, 16(1), 22-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5278.99686</u>
- Rasmussen, S., Sperling, P., Poulsen, M. S., Emmersen, J., & Andersen, S. (2020). Medical students for health-care staff shortages during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The lancet, 395*(10234), e79-e80.
- Ravi, R., Gunjawate, D., & Ayas, M. (2015, Feb). Audiology occupational stress experienced by audiologists practicing in India. Int J Audiol, 54(2), 131-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2014.975371</u>
- Ravi, R., Yerraguntla, K., Gunjawate, D. R., Guddattu, V., & Bellur, R. (2016, 2016/07/02). Professional quality of life in audiologists and speech language pathologists working in India. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, 31(3), 162-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2016.1192475</u>
- Reddy, K. J., Menon, K. R., & Thattil, A. (2018). Academic stress and its sources among university students. *Biomedical and pharmacology journal*, *11*(1), 531-537.
- Rhead, M. (1995). Stress among student nurses: is it practical or academic? *Journal of clinical nursing*, *4*(6), 369-376.
- Richardson, T., Elliott, P., & Roberts, R. (2013). The relationship between personal unsecured debt and mental and physical health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical psychology review*, 33(8), 1148-1162.
- Riordan, R. J., & Saltzer, S. K. (1992). Burnout Prevention among Health Care Providers Working with the Terminally III: A Literature Review. *Omega: Journal of Death and Dying*, 25(1), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/EQ6R-GX93-PW34-JTKE</u>

- Roberts, R., Golding, J., Towell, T., & Weinreb, I. (1999). The effects of economic circumstances on British students' mental and physical health. *Journal of American College Health, 48*(3), 103-109.
- Robins, T. G., Roberts, R. M., & Sarris, A. (2015). Burnout and engagement in health profession students: The relationships between study demands, study resources and personal resources. *The Australasian Journal of Organisational Psychology*, 8.
- Rochford, C., Connolly, M., & Drennan, J. (2009, 2009/08/01/). Paid part-time employment and academic performance of undergraduate nursing students. *Nurse Education Today, 29*(6), 601-606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2009.01.004</u>
- Rolfe, G. (1996). Closing the Theory-Practice Gap a New Paradigm for Nursing.
- Rosenzweig, S., Reibel, D. K., Greeson, J. M., Brainard, G. C., & Hojat, M. (2003, Spring). Mindfulness-based stress reduction lowers psychological distress in medical students. *Teach Learn Med*, 15(2), 88-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328015tlm1502_03</u>
- Rosiek, A., Rosiek-Kryszewska, A., Leksowski, Ł., & Leksowski, K. (2016). Chronic stress and suicidal thinking among medical students. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 13(2), 212.
- Ruzhenkova, V. V., Ruzhenkov, V. A., Lukyantseva, I. S., & Anisimova, N. A. (2018). Academic stress and its effect on medical students' mental health status.
- Saeed, A. A., Bahnassy, A. A., Al-Hamdan, N. A., Almudhaibery, F. S., & Alyahya, A. Z. (2016). Perceived stress and associated factors among medical students. *Journal of family & community medicine*, 23(3), 166.
- Saras, L. J. (1994). The effects of a clinical supervision model on the training of student speechlanguage clinicians. The Pennsylvania State University.
- Sarid, O., Anson, O., Yaari, A., & Margalith, M. (2004). Academic stress, immunological reaction, and academic performance among students of nursing and physiotherapy. *Research in nursing & health, 27*(5), 370-377.
- Sauter, S. L., Murphy, L. R., & Hurrell, J. J. (1992). Prevention of work-related psychological disorders: A national strategy proposed by the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH).
- Schaufeli, W. B., Martinez, I. M., Pinto, A. M., Salanova, M., & Bakker, A. B. (2002). Burnout and engagement in university students: A cross-national study. *Journal of cross-cultural* psychology, 33(5), 464-481.

- Scheff, T., Gleberman, L., & Parker, R. (1982). Sadness, crying, and the resolution of grief. annual meeting of the American Psychological Association, Washington, DC,
- Scheff, T. J., & Bushnell, D. D. (1984, 1984/06/01/). A theory of catharsis. *Journal of Research in Personality,* 18(2), 238-264. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-6566(84)90032-1</u>
- Schneiderman, N., Ironson, G., & Siegel, S. D. (2005). Stress and health: psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 1, 607.
- Scully, N. J. (2011). The theory-practice gap and skill acquisition: An issue for nursing education. *Collegian*, *18*(2), 93-98.
- Seaward, B. L. (2021). *Managing stress: Principles and strategies for health and wellbeing*. Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Selye, H. (1956). The stress of life.
- Severn, Searchfield, G. D., & Huggard, P. (2012, 2012/01/01). Occupational stress amongst audiologists: Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, and burnout. *International journal of audiology*, 51(1), 3-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2011.602366</u>
- Seyedfatemi, N., Tafreshi, M., & Hagani, H. (2007). Experienced stressors and coping strategies among Iranian nursing students. *BMC nursing*, 6(1), 1-10.
- Shah, S. I. A., & Ahmed, M. (2013). Medical students' anxiety on beginning clinical studies. *Al Ameen J Med Sci, 6*(3), 195-201.
- Shapiro, S. L., Shapiro, D. E., & Schwartz, G. E. (2000, Jul). Stress management in medical education: a review of the literature. *Acad Med*, *75*(7), 748-759. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001888-200007000-00023</u>
- Shapiro, S. L., Shapiro, D. E., & Schwartz, G. E. (2000). Stress Management in Medical EducationTable 1. A Review of the Literature on Stress Management in Medical Education, 1969 to 1998Table 1. Continued. Table 1. Continued. Table 1. Continued. Table 1. Continued. Table 1. Continued.: A Review of the Literature. Academic medicine, 75(7), 748-759.
- Shen, H., & Ziderman, A. (2009, 2009/03/01). Student loans repayment and recovery: international comparisons. *Higher education*, *57*(3), 315-333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-008-9146-0</u>
- Shipton, S. P. (1994). Coping as experienced by senior baccalaureate nursing students in response to appraised clinical stress. University of Pittsburgh.

- Shoghi, M., Sajadi, M., Oskuie, F., Dehnad, A., & Borimnejad, L. (2019, 2019/09/01/). Strategies for bridging the theory-practice gap from the perspective of nursing experts. *Heliyon*, 5(9), e02503. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02503</u>
- Simpson, A., Short, A. M., Malicka, A. N., & Clarke-Errey, S. (2021). Moral distress and occupational wellbeing in audiologists: an Australian case study. *Clinical Ethics*, *16*(2), 105-113.
- Snell, L., Tallett, S., Haist, S., Hays, R., Norcini, J., Prince, K., Rothman, A., & Rowe, R. (2000). A review of the evaluation of clinical teaching: new perspectives and challenges. *Medical education*, 34(10), 862-870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2923.2000.00754.x</u>
- Sorensen, L., & Winn, S. (1993). Student loans: a case study. *Higher Education Review*, 25(3), 48.
- Stamm. (2010). The concise manual for the professional quality of life scale.
- Stamm, B. (2005). Professional quality of life scale: Compassion satisfaction, burnout and fatigue/secondary trauma subscales-Revision IV. Retrieved from http. *www. isu/edu-bihstamm*.
- Stebleton, M. J., Soria, K. M., & Huesman Jr, R. L. (2014). First-generation students' sense of belonging, mental health, and use of counseling services at public research universities. *Journal of College Counseling*, *17*(1), 6-20.
- Stecker, T. (2004). Well-being in an academic environment. *Medical education, 38*(5), 465-478.
- Steinmetz, L. C. L., Leyes, C. A., Florio, M. A. D., Fong, S. B., Steinmetz, R. L. L., & Godoy, J. C. (2021). Mental health impacts in Argentinean college students during COVID-19 quarantine. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *12*.
- Steward, B. (1996). The Theory/Practice Divide: Bridging the Gap in Occupational Therapy. British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 59(6), 264-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/030802269605900604</u>
- Surana, S., Singh, A. K., & Saxena, S. (2011). The management of job burnout among call centre customer service agents in India: the role of social support. *International Journal of Management Development*, 1(1), 79-97.
- Swanwick, T. (2018). Understanding medical education. *Understanding Medical Education: Evidence, Theory, and Practice,* 1-6.

- Tan, C. E., Jaffar, A., Tong, S. F., Hamzah, M. S., & Mohamad, N. (2014). Comprehensive Healthcare module: medical and pharmacy students' shared learning experiences. *Med Educ Online*, 19, 25605. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/meo.v19.25605</u>
- Testerman, J. K., Morton, K. R., Loo, L. K., Worthley, J. S., & Lamberton, H. H. (1996). The natural history of cynicism in physicians. *Academic medicine*, *71*(10), S43-45.
- Thorley, C. (2017). Not By Degrees: Not by degrees: Improving student mental health in the UK's universities. *IPPR: London, UK*.
- Todd, G., & Freshwater, D. (1999). Reflective practice and guided discovery: clinical supervision. *British Journal of Nursing*, 8(20), 1383-1389.
- Tucker, B., Jones, S., Mandy, A., & Gupta, R. (2006, Dec). Physiotherapy students' sources of stress, perceived course difficulty, and paid employment: comparison between Western Australia and United Kingdom. *Physiother Theory Pract, 22*(6), 317-328. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593980601059550
- Tully. (2004, Feb). Stress, sources of stress and ways of coping among psychiatric nursing students. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs, 11(1), 43-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2850.2004.00682.x</u>
- Ursin, H., & Eriksen, H. R. (2004). The cognitive activation theory of stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *29*(5), 567-592.
- Vitaliano, P. P., Maiuro, R. D., Russo, J., & Mitchell, E. S. (1989, Feb). Medical student distress. A longitudinal study. *J Nerv Ment Dis, 177*(2), 70-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005053-198902000-00002</u>
- Voltmer, E., Köslich-Strumann, S., Voltmer, J. B., & Kötter, T. (2021, Aug 28). Stress and behavior patterns throughout medical education - a six year longitudinal study. *BMC Med Educ*, 21(1), 454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-02862-x</u>
- Voltmer, E., Kötter, T., & Spahn, C. (2012). Perceived medical school stress and the development of behavior and experience patterns in German medical students. *Med Teach, 34*(10), 840-847. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159x.2012.706339</u>
- Wahat, N. H. A., Saat, N. Z. M., Ching, C. K., Qin, L. Y., May, G. C., Omar, N., Ros, S. C., Mohd, F. S., Ping, T. M., & Omar, S. S. (2012, 2012/10/17/). Time Management Skill and Stress Level Among Audiology and Speech Sciences Students of Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 59,* 704-708. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.334

Walinga, J. (2014). Stress and coping. Introduction to psychology, 750-761.
- Walsh, J., Feeney, C., Hussey, J., & Donnellan, C. (2010). Sources of stress and psychological morbidity among undergraduate physiotherapy students. *Physiotherapy*, *96*(3), 206-212.
- Wang, X., Hegde, S., Son, C., Keller, B., Smith, A., & Sasangohar, F. (2020). Investigating mental health of US college students during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional survey study. *Journal of medical Internet research*, *22*(9), e22817.
- Wathelet, M., Duhem, S., Vaiva, G., Baubet, T., Habran, E., Veerapa, E., Debien, C., Molenda, S., Horn, M., & Grandgenèvre, P. (2020). Factors associated with mental health disorders among university students in France confined during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA network open, 3(10), e2025591-e2025591.
- Watson, R., Deary, I., Thompson, D., & Li, G. (2008, Oct). A study of stress and burnout in nursing students in Hong Kong: a questionnaire survey. *Int J Nurs Stud, 45*(10), 1534-1542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2007.11.003
- Webster, C. S., Ling, C., Barrow, M., Poole, P., & Henning, M. (2017). A cross-disciplinary assessment of student loans debt, financial support for study and career preferences upon graduation. *NZ Med J*, 130(1459), 43-53.
- Weinstein, N., & Ryan, R. M. (2011). A self-determination theory approach to understanding stress incursion and responses. *Stress and Health*, *27*(1), 4-17.
- West, C. P., Shanafelt, T. D., & Kolars, J. C. (2011). Quality of life, burnout, educational debt, and medical knowledge among internal medicine residents. *Jama*, *306*(9), 952-960.
- Westman, M., & Eden, D. (1996). The inverted-U relationship between stress and performance: A field study. *Work & Stress, 10*(2), 165-173.
- Williams, E. S., Manwell, L. B., Konrad, T. R., & Linzer, M. (2007). The relationship of organizational culture, stress, satisfaction, and burnout with physician-reported error and suboptimal patient care: results from the MEMO study. *Health care management review*, 32(3), 203-212.

Woodhall, M. (1987). Student loans. In Economics of Education (pp. 445-450). Elsevier.

- Yee, A. H. (1969). Do cooperating teachers influence the attitudes of student teachers? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *60*(4p1), 327.
- Zawadzki, M. J., Hussain, M., & Kho, C. (2022). Comparing multidimensional facets of stress with social, emotional, and physical well-being using ecological momentary assessment among a Hispanic sample. *Stress and Health*, *38*(2), 375-387.

- Zeidner, M., & Endler, N. S. (1995). *Handbook of coping: Theory, research, applications* (Vol. 195). John Wiley & Sons.
- Zimmer, M., Emanuel, D. C., & Reed, N. S. (2022). Burnout in US Audiologists. *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*.
- ZipoliJr, R. P., & Kennedy, M. (2005). Evidence-based practice among speech-language pathologists.